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Preface  

The Public Accounts of Alberta are prepared in accordance with the Financial Administration Act 
and the Sustainable Fiscal Planning and Reporting Act. The Public Accounts consist of the annual 
report of the Government of Alberta and the annual reports of each ministry. 

The 2023-24 Annual Report reflects the 2023-26 Ministry Business Plans, the Government of 
Alberta Strategic Plan, as well as the ministry’s activities and accomplishments during the 2023-24 
fiscal year, which ended on March 31, 2024. 

The Annual Report of the Government of Alberta contains Budget 2023 Key Results, the audited 
Consolidated Financial Statements and Performance Results, which compares actual performance 
results to desired results set out in the government’s strategic plan. 

This annual report of the Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation contains the Minister’s 
Accountability Statement, the ministry’s Financial Information and Results Analysis, a comparison 
of actual performance results to desired results set out in the Ministry Business Plan. This ministry 
annual report also includes: 

• the financial statements of entities making up the ministry including the Agriculture 
Financial Services Corporation for which the minister is responsible; 

• other financial information as required by the Financial Administration Act and 
Sustainable Fiscal Planning and Reporting Act, as separate reports, to the extent that the 
ministry has anything to report; and 

• financial information relating to trust funds. 
 

All Ministry Annual Reports should be considered along with the Government of Alberta Annual 
Report to provide a complete overview of government’s commitment to openness, accountability, 
and fiscal transparency. 
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Minister’s Accountability Statement  

The ministry’s annual report for the year ended March 31, 2024, was prepared under my direction 
in accordance with the Sustainable Fiscal Planning and Reporting Act and the government’s 
accounting policies. All the government’s policy decisions as of June 3, 2024, with material 
economic or fiscal implications of which I am aware have been considered in the preparation of this 
report1. 

 

 

[Original Signed by] 

Honorable RJ Sigurdson 
Minister of Agriculture and Irrigation 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

1 Includes individual reporting entity Agriculture Financial Services Corporation.  
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Message from the Minister  

During the 2023-24 fiscal year, Alberta’s government has 
worked hard to ensure the economy is diversified, 
competitive, attracts investment and creates jobs. 

The ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation (AGI) was well 
positioned to attract investment, expand trade, and help 
grow the province’s economy. We focused on key priorities 
and took actions to enable the agriculture and agri-food 
sectors in addressing challenges in domestic and global 
markets. Our work supported rural communities to thrive 
and contribute to Alberta’s growth and prosperity. 

The annual report outlines the outstanding work we have accomplished to support Alberta’s 
strategic plan and the ministry’s business plan. To achieve results, the ministry concentrated its 
efforts on supporting increased investments, expanding trade, economic growth, increasing 
competitiveness and providing robust assurance systems. 

Economic growth and sustainability  
 
In April 2023, Alberta’s government introduced the Alberta Agri-processing Investment Tax Credit 
Program. In 2023-24, the ministry promoted the program within Canada and overseas resulting in 
11 applications, conditional approvals for six value-added agriculture companies and one of these 
successful recipients was approved to receive up to nearly $1.3 million in future tax credits. This tax 
credit boosts the province’s competitive advantage by creating the right conditions to attract large-
scale investments that will continue to grow the value-added agricultural industry and diversify the 
economy. 
 
In April 2023, the Sustainable Canadian Agricultural Partnership (Sustainable CAP), a five-year 
(2023-28), $3.5-billion investment and partnership between federal, provincial and territorial 
governments replaced the previous Canadian Agricultural Partnership. Sustainable CAP allocated 
$56.8 million through 1,185 grants in 2023-24 to focus on climate change and environment, 
building sector growth and capacity, science, research and innovation, resiliency and public trust, 
and market development and trade initiatives. 

While it is important to grow investment, the ministry understands that research is also essential to 
diversify and grow the agriculture sector. Consequently, in 2023-24 we maintained our 
commitment to invest $38.5 million per year over 10 years in Results Driven Agriculture Research 
(RDAR). This funding enabled RDAR to collaborate with producers, industry associations and 
commissions on research priorities that are helping to create a more abundant and affordable food 
supply, while providing benefits to Alberta farmers and ranchers, like increased productivity and 
higher profits.  

In 2023-24, the ministry exceeded set targets for the annual total value of investment in the 
primary and agri-processing sectors as a result of ministry investment initiatives. During this 
period, Alberta attracted more than $3 billion in new investment that will support the creation of 
approximately 1,300 jobs for Albertans.  
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Building Alberta 

Alberta’s government understands the importance of irrigation in bolstering crop production. In 
2022-23, 84.2 per cent of irrigated fields within Alberta’s irrigation districts were irrigated using 
efficient on-farm irrigation systems. This is a 4.8 per cent increase compared to four years earlier. 
We continued to invest in expanding the area of irrigated land to increase production by growing a 
diverse range of crops that cannot be grown on dryland, thereby increasing food manufacturing 
opportunities for Alberta producers and businesses. Along those same lines, in 2020, we announced 
a partnership with the Canada Infrastructure Bank and nine irrigation districts to invest $933 
million over seven years in irrigation infrastructure expansion and modernization. As of 2023-24, 
38 of 92 projects were completed to make better use of irrigation water supply and increase 
agricultural production. A crucial part of supporting Alberta’s agriculture industry in the coming 
year will be thoughtful water planning. Upcoming projects will explore, expand and upgrade water 
storage systems across Alberta. 

Agriculture and Irrigation continues to lead government’s priority on rural economic development. 
We heard what rural Albertans and Indigenous communities had to say and developed the 
Economic Development in Rural Alberta Plan to address the unique issues they face. We are in year 
two of this five-year plan that is guiding innovation and growth in rural communities with inclusive, 
community-led programs and services that enhance and diversify rural economies. The plan also 
includes strategies and actions to make sure rural Albertans and Indigenous communities have 
economic opportunities where they live. With this in mind, we launched the Small Community 
Opportunity Program (SCOP). This program provided $3.24 million in grants in 2023-24 for 43 
projects that tackle challenges and tap into local economic opportunities in rural areas. Funding 
through the SCOP will continue in 2024-2025 for projects that build capacity in agriculture, small 
business supports and rural economic development. 

Food Safety 

The ministry continued to support systems to protect public health and the long-term sustainability 
of the agriculture industry and rural communities. The ministry joined several animal health 
networks across Canada in support of the province’s animal and crop health systems, including 
laboratory and diagnostic services, and disease response plans. The ministry leads, develops and 
allocates public funds to initiatives that are effective at mitigating risks to food safety along with 
animal and crop health. Some examples in the past year include a $1.2 million capital grant and a 
one-time $2.26 million Sustainable Canadian Agricultural Partnership grant to the University of 
Calgary Veterinary Medicine program to expand veterinary diagnostics for faster response to 
emerging animal disease threats and processing 22,924 lab tests through AGI labs to support 
farmed animal health surveillance and disease investigations. In 2023-24, following Alberta’s 
world-class animal disease management practices, and working closely with industry and 
producers, only 20 farms reported being affected by avian flu – a 73 per cent decrease when 
compared to 2022. 

Robust Assurance Systems 

In 2023-24, $168 million was allocated for two AgriRecovery initiatives that provided assistance to 
7,924 producers in the livestock and bee industries for extraordinary costs associated with drought.  

For the first initiative, Agriculture Financial Services Corporation (AFSC) received 7,847 
applications for the 2023 Canada-Alberta Drought Livestock Assistance AgriRecovery program 
representing approximately 1.3 million animals, 93 per cent were cattle. $165 million was provided 
to cover extraordinary losses to manage and maintain breeding animals in dry conditions. The 
ministry successfully advocated extending application deadlines and eligibility to more agricultural 
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areas than in the initial intake. Eighty per cent of applications were approved through an 
automated system resulting in compensating producers faster. 

For the second initiative, in winter 2022, only 15 commercial beekeepers had insured 8,627 hives 
for overwintering hive losses, but 40 per cent of commercial beekeepers who chose not to take 
insurance, experienced close to 50 per cent hive losses. These historic loss levels triggered the 2022 
Canada-Alberta Colony replacement Assistance Initiative. In 2023-24, this AgriRecovery initiative 
provided $3.3 million to 68 applicants for restocking hives, colonies, bee packages and queen bees. 
In the past year, the ministry promoted the AgriStability program including insurance and coverage 
to help reduce future need for AgriRecovery. In 2023-24, this work resulted in 20 beekeepers 
buying overwintering loss insurance to manage risks of stock replacement and income loss 
compared to 15 beekeepers in the previous year. 

The ministry made sure farmers and ranchers had access to insurance to mitigate extreme dry 
conditions in the 2023-24 growing season and will continue to contribute to AFSC’s insurance fund 
balance. In addition, in 2023-24, drones were used to inspect wildlife damage on over 215,000 
acres.  The use of this technology rapidly shortened AFSC’s payment timelines with 30 per cent of 
wildlife damage-related claims being fully paid without requiring an inspection and 85 per cent of 
clients eligible for cash advances. 

This past year, Moisture Deficiency Insurance (MDI) for pasture was improved through the use of 
monthly payments from the previous annual payments. This allowed producers to quickly access 
cash to get feed at critical times. Significant improvements in policies for minimum rainfall and 
ways to address high temperatures increased protection for livestock producers against drought. 
These improvements resulted in $326 million in payouts after producers contributed just $66 
million in premiums for the 2023 growing season. 

Looking ahead, Agriculture and Irrigation remains committed to collaborating with rural Albertans 
and the agriculture and agri-food sectors to continue strengthening Alberta’s economy. Together, 
we will help lead Alberta’s economic growth now and into the future. 
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Management’s Responsibility for Reporting  

The Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation includes: 
• Department of Agriculture and Irrigation 
• Agriculture Financial Services Corporation 
• Farmers’ and Property Rights Advocate Office 
• Alberta Agricultural Products Marketing Council 
• Marketing of Agricultural Products Act Appeal Tribunal 
• Irrigation Council 
• Drainage Council 

The executives of the individual entities within the ministry have the primary responsibility and 
accountability for the respective entities. Collectively, the executives ensure the ministry complies 
with all relevant legislation, regulations and policies. 

Ministry Business Plans, annual reports, performance results and the supporting management 
information are integral to the government’s fiscal and strategic plan, annual report, quarterly 
reports, and other financial and performance reporting. 

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the accompanying ministry financial information 
and performance results for the ministry rests with the Minister of Agriculture and Irrigation. 
Under the direction of the Minister, I oversee the preparation of the ministry’s annual report, which 
includes the financial information, performance results on all objectives and initiatives identified in 
the Ministry Business Plan, and performance results for all ministry-supported commitments that 
were included in the 2023-26 Government of Alberta Strategic Plan. The financial information and 
performance results, out of necessity, include amounts that are based on estimates and judgments. 
The financial information is prepared using the government’s stated accounting policies, which are 
based on Canadian public sector accounting standards. The performance measures are prepared in 
accordance with the following criteria: 

• Reliable - Information used in applying performance measure methodologies agrees 
with the underlying source data for the current and prior years’ results. 

• Understandable - the performance measure methodologies and results are presented 
clearly. 

• Comparable - the methodologies for performance measure preparation are applied 
consistently for the current and prior years’ results.  

• Complete - outcomes, performance measures and related targets match those included 
in the ministry’s Budget 2023. 

As Deputy Minister, in addition to program responsibilities, I am responsible for the ministry’s 
financial administration and reporting functions. The ministry maintains systems of financial 
management and internal control which give consideration to costs, benefits, and risks that are 
designed to: 
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• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are properly authorized, executed in 
accordance with prescribed legislation and regulations, and properly recorded so as to 
maintain accountability of public money; 

• provide information to manage and report on performance; 
• safeguard the assets and properties of the province under ministry administration; 
• provide Executive Council, the President of Treasury Board and Minister of Finance, and 

the Minister of Agriculture and Irrigation the information needed to fulfill their 
responsibilities; and 

• facilitate preparation of Ministry Business Plans and annual reports required under the 
Sustainable Fiscal Planning and Reporting Act. 

In fulfilling my responsibilities for the ministry, I have relied, as necessary, on the executives of the 
individual entities within the ministry.  

 

 

[Original signed by] 

Jason Hale 
Deputy Minister of Agriculture and Irrigation 
June 3, 2024 
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Ministry Overview  
The Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation (AGI) is responsible for the policies, legislation, programs 
and services that enable Alberta’s agriculture and agri-processing sectors to grow and contribute to 
economic growth and the wellbeing of Albertans. This role is diverse, ranging from supporting 
industry growth, diversification and value-added processing, to investing in irrigation 
infrastructure and rural communities; from offering business risk management programs to 
ensuring animal and crop health and food safety. AGI supports programs that are foundational to 
irrigation and agricultural societies, helping to create strong rural communities and resilient 
agriculture sectors.  Amidst evolving challenges, the Ministry continues to build clarity and 
efficiency in agricultural regulatory systems, while also adapting policies and legislation to create 
agricultural opportunities thus encouraging producers and processors to leverage Alberta's 
competitive advantages to meet market demand.   

Growth and Economic Sustainability 

 The ministry’s commitment to agricultural diversification and enhancing value-added processing 
capacity, including investment tax credits and an efficient concierge service, is making Alberta more 
attractive to investors while increasing farm cash receipts and creating jobs. By investing in the 
modernization and expansion of irrigation infrastructure along with encouraging producers’ uptake 
of innovative irrigation practices, AGI ensures the resilience and continued growth of the primary 
agriculture sector that is critical for a competitive and thriving value-added sector. The ministry 
funds local agricultural societies and related rural infrastructure revitalization projects; provides 
grants through the Small Community Opportunity Program to build capacity in rural economic 
development, agriculture-related skills for youth, and enhance rural quality of life. 

Competitive Business Environment 

The ministry continues to build Alberta’s profile as a preferred trade partner and a reliable supplier 
of premium agricultural products through programs and services that are based on Alberta’s 
economic advantages. This involves supporting market access and development of existing and 
emerging markets through Sustainable Canadian Agricultural Partnership grant programs and 
export development services. Long term competitiveness, productivity growth, innovation and 
resiliency are supported through AGI’s financial commitment to Results Driven Agriculture 
Research and grants made directly to producers and processors to enable innovative, efficient and 
sustainable production systems across the agriculture sector. The range of policies, advocacy, 
programs and incentives positively influence the operating environments and are responsive to 
short-and long-term challenges related to commodity market swings, rising production costs, 
supply chain challenges, variable weather conditions and market access interruptions. 

Reliable Assurance Systems 

The ministry develops and enhances the effectiveness of crop and animal health assurance systems 
using science-based frameworks, best practices, and biosecurity measures; prioritizes water 
availability and quality through water infrastructure management and operations; supports 
agricultural yield growth and harvestability, and food safety through longstanding foundational 
programs. The ministry fosters confidence in domestic and international markets in Alberta’s 
agricultural system, water stewardship, and ability to handle extreme weather events through 
cross-government and industry collaboration, policy harmonization and agile communication. 



 

 Results Analysis 
 

 

Agriculture and Irrigation | Annual Report 2023–2024 11 

Classification: Public 

Organizational Structure  
The Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation is comprised of the Department of Agriculture and 
Irrigation, the Agriculture Financial Services Corporation, as well as other entities including the 
Farmers’ and Property Rights Advocate Office, the Alberta Agricultural Products Marketing Council, 
the Marketing of Agricultural Products Act Appeal Tribunal, the Irrigation Council and the Drainage 
Council.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Operational Overview  
Department of Agriculture and Irrigation  

Financial Services Division  
The division provides leadership in establishing fiscal management and manages financial 
reporting and systems. This division also delivers support services in emergency management, and 
fleet and facilities management. Additionally, the division serves as the ministerial liaison with the 
Agriculture Financial Services Corporation (AFSC), Service Alberta and Red Tape Reduction, 
Technology and Innovation and Treasury Board. 

Primary Agriculture Division  
Primary Agriculture Division includes: 

• Animal Health and Assurance Branch; 
• Crop Assurance and Rural Programming Branch; 
• Natural Resource Management Branch, and 

• Water Infrastructure and Operations Branch. 

The division supports the development and competitiveness of the livestock and crop industries by 
encouraging emergency preparedness, traceability, disease and pest surveillance activities and 
cross-government surveillance networks. The division also focuses on enhancing Alberta’s 
reputation for responsible and efficient resource use management in agricultural production. The 
division builds sustainable agricultural capacity using regulatory frameworks for animal and plant 
health. It also facilitates knowledge transfer to producers to advance the competitive position of 
Alberta’s agricultural industry. 
Through water supply management, education and financial incentives, the division assists 
livestock and crop producers, irrigators and other water license holders to capitalize on 
opportunities to gain water efficiencies, modernize and rehabilitate irrigation infrastructure. Other 
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activities to reduce the risks and impacts of flood and drought include the operation, maintenance 
and assessment of provincially owned water management infrastructure such as dams and canals. 
The division is also home to the Dam Safety Regulator for the province, as legislated under the 
Water Act.  The Dam Safety Regulator is responsible for regulating over 1,300 private and 
provincially owned dams throughout the province to ensure dam owners meet their 
responsibilities outlined in the Water Act and the Dam and Canal Safety Directive. 
The division also supports industry leadership and builds rural community capacity to address a 
wide range of opportunities and challenges by aiding in the improvement of governance of 
industry-led boards and commissions, community organizations, and agricultural society 
infrastructure. The division collaborates with stakeholders to provide funding for agriculture 
research and rural programming while supporting crop and farmed animal health. 

Trade, Investment and Food Safety Division  
Trade, Investment and Food Safety Division includes: 

• Export and Investment Branch; 
• Food and Bio-Processing Branch; 
• Food Safety Branch; 
• Intergovernmental and Trade Relations Branch; and  
• Rural Economic Development Branch. 

The division focuses on developing and growing the agriculture and food industry through value-
added processing development, business development, investment attraction, international 
relations, market access, export development, and rural economic development capacity building 
through the Small Community Opportunity Program. It supports businesses by identifying new 
opportunities, growing and diversifying Alberta’s agri-processing industry through numerous 
programs and services including investment tax credits, and supporting market development for 
industry to succeed. The division focuses on building a strong culture of food safety including 
proactively identifying and mitigating food safety issues. It supports the growth of new and 
emerging food and bio-based companies with access to expertise, equipment and facilities for 
product and process development, interim processing, and commercial scale up. The division also 
conducts applied economic and competitiveness analyses. 

Policy Services, Planning and Innovation Branch  
The branch provides policy advice, analysis, review, tracking and coordination to teams across the 
department. It takes a lead role on cross-divisional or cross-ministry policy initiatives and develops 
ministry business plans and annual reports, leads the enterprise risk management framework, and 
red tape reduction. The branch also provides legislative and advocacy services, manages 
appointment processes, supports public engagement, and drives innovation within the ministry. 
 
Other Entities  

Agriculture Financial Services Corporation  
A diverse provincial Crown corporation with several core business areas, Agriculture Financial 
Services Corporation (AFSC) works to grow and sustain agriculture in Alberta. AFSC provides farm 
and agribusiness loans, crop and livestock price insurance and income stabilization. To mitigate 
risks associated with crop production and commodity price fluctuations, AFSC carries out 
negotiated Sustainable Canadian Agricultural Partnership programs and initiatives such as 
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AgriInsurance, AgriStability and AgriRecovery, while continually upgrading and advancing 
improvements in service delivery. 

Farmers’ and Property Rights Advocate Office 

The Farmers’ and Property Rights Advocate (FPRAO) provides supports for farmers and ranchers, 
including advocacy for policy and legislative changes on behalf of property owners to provide 
protection and appeal mechanisms for energy, utility and surface rights. It also provides timely 
communication and advice on municipal concerns, agricultural contracts, leases, and water-related 
matters while supporting navigating legal procedures and engaging in rural dispute resolution. The 
FPRAO listens to Albertans’ concerns regarding property rights and agricultural-related matters 
and brings them before government. The Farmers’ and Property Rights Advocate administers the 
Farm Implement and Dealership Act, which provide consumer protection through warranty, parts 
availability, and licensing of all Alberta farm implement dealers and distributors, including 
inspection services to assist in Farm Implement Board hearings. 

Alberta Agricultural Products Marketing Council 

The Alberta Agricultural Products Marketing Council (Marketing Council) is the oversight body for 
Alberta’s 19 agricultural marketing boards and commissions. The Marketing Council provides 
advice to the Minister of Agriculture and Irrigation on matters related to the establishment, 
operation and management of the marketing boards and commissions established under the 
Marketing of Agricultural Products Act (MAPA). The Marketing Council also provides strategic 
support to marketing boards and commissions on board governance, leadership development, 
strategic and business planning, and regulatory and policy matters. 

Marketing of Agricultural Products Act Appeal Tribunal 

The Marketing of Agricultural Products Act Appeal Tribunal has at least five members appointed to 
hear appeals of orders, directions or decisions made by Alberta’s 19 regulated marketing boards 
and commissions on board governance, leadership development, strategic and business planning, 
and regulatory and policy matters. 

Irrigation Council 

The Irrigation Council establishes policies and approves three-year plans and projects submitted by 
Alberta’s 11 irrigation districts to ensure accountability of the public’s ongoing cost-shared 
investment in a strong, efficient and sustainable irrigation industry. The Irrigation Council also acts 
as an appeals body and makes recommendations to the Minister of Agriculture and Irrigation for 
matters under the Irrigation Districts Act. 

Drainage Council 

The Drainage Council is an adjudicative agency enabled by the Drainage Districts Act. The Council 
provides advice and recommendations to the Minister of Agriculture and Irrigation to ensure 
drainage districts are maintaining their regulatory obligations per the Act and hears appeals 
regarding decisions of drainage district boards of trustees related to drainage rates and drainage 
construction damages. 
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Farm Implement Board 

The Farm Implement Board, a non-public agency, reports to the Minister of Agriculture and 
Irrigation and advises on matters arising from the operation of the Farm Implement and Dealership 
Act. The Board hears applications for compensation and other issues that cannot be resolved with 
the Farm Implement Inspector such as settling warranty complaints, mediating disputes and 
providing assistance in situations where machinery does not perform, or lease/sale agreements are 
breached.  
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Key Highlights  
The Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation focused on accomplishing three outcomes identified in 
the 2023-26 Ministry Business Plan: 

Outcome One: Alberta’s economic growth is supported by increased investments, 
expanded trade in Alberta’s agriculture sector and by maximizing economic 
opportunities across Alberta. 

 Outcome Two: Alberta’s competitive business environment provides a strong 
foundation for resilient agriculture sectors and rural communities. 
Outcome Three: Robust assurance systems and effective resource management 
practices support agriculture sector success and protect public safety in communities 
across Alberta. 

Key highlights and results achieved by the Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation in 2023-24 
include: 

Growth and Economic Sustainability 
 

• Facilitated $3.1 billion in new investments in value-added processing which exceeded 
both historical standards and the annual target of $539 million.  

• Primary agricultural exports reached $8.2 billion in 2023, far exceeding what was 
achieved in 2022 by more than $900 million. Value-added agricultural exports reached 
$9.7 billion, almost $800 million over and above the 2022 level. 

• Specialized facilities, equipment, and expertise supported value-added agriculture 
processors through 104 service agreements to launch 23 new products.  These 
businesses were further supported by the provision of business development coaching, 
product and process development, and business incubation services. 

• Based on latest available data (2022-23), a total of 84.2 per cent of irrigated farmlands 
in the irrigation districts were under efficient irrigation enabling more acres to be 
irrigated using the same amount of water, a 4.8 per cent increase compared to four 
years earlier. 

• The Irrigating Alberta Infrastructure Investment Grant enabled 38 of 92 projects to be 
completed from 2021 to 2024, improving nine irrigation districts’ water availability 
while making water available for agriculture processors and other users. 

• $321 million in approved Next Generation loans helped clients who were entering the 
farming industry and those under the age of 40 to start or develop their farming 
operations, which leveraged $368 million in total dollar investments. 

• Provided 670 workshop participants, throughout Alberta, with decision support and 
information on tools and services for handling intergenerational farm transitions, 
succession planning and associated management. 

• Continued promotion of the Agri-Processing Investment Tax Credit program resulted in 
11 applications submitted, with one out of six conditional approvals announced. Four 
approvals were for the construction of new processing facilities and two were for 
expansions of current facilities. 

• Results Driven Agriculture Research leveraged $38.5 million in Alberta funding to 
support active producer participation and research knowledge transfer through 685 
research projects since 2020, including 363 active projects. 
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Competitive Business Environment 

 
• Improved moisture-related insurance to fairly compensate producers experiencing low 

precipitation and allow faster salvage of crops for livestock feed. 
• Two AgriRecovery initiatives allocated $168 million to livestock and bee industries in 

2023-24, buffering extraordinary costs associated with drought for 7,924 producers.  
• The Agricultural Societies Infrastructure Revitalization Program supported 34 projects 

with $2.5 million so that agricultural societies can continue to use facilities to enhance 
the quality of life in rural communities. 

• The Farmers’ and Property Rights Advocate Office supported more than 1,189 rural 
landowner and property owner legal and advocacy related inquiries by phone and 
email, and conducted 189 mediations, including 63 Farm Implement Inspector issues 
that were resolved without Farm Implement Board hearings. 

• The Small Community Opportunity Program provided $3.24 million across 43 projects 
led by Indigenous and/or small communities, and the non-profits they work with, to 
build capacity in agriculture and grow local entrepreneurship, mentorship, and 
networks. 

The Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation remains committed to regulatory approaches and 
program delivery that reduces unnecessary government oversight and emphasizes outcomes, to 
improve access to government services, attract investment, support innovation and 
competitiveness, and grow Alberta businesses.  Actions to grow agricultural prospects included: 

• The Agricultural Products Marketing Council worked with Alberta Milk to clarify its 
authority, add disincentives for milk overproduction and remove unnecessary 
regulatory requirements. These legislative changes enable industry improvements to 
reduce milk waste and improve profitability. 

• Drone use for over 215,000 acres of wildlife damage inspections sped up Agriculture 
Financial Services Corporation payments. Approximately 30 per cent of claims surveyed 
by drones were fully paid without requiring an inspection, and nearly 85 per cent of 
clients were eligible for cash advances, with inspections to be completed at a later date. 
 

Reliable Assurance Systems  
 

• Through AGI labs, processed 22,924 tests to support farmed animal health surveillance, 
disease investigations, and national surveillance networks. 

• Contributed $1.2 million to the University of Calgary Faculty of Veterinary Medicine to 
develop a modern molecular biology laboratory that will support faster response to 
emerging animal disease threats as well as veterinary medicine career development.  

• A 73 per cent decrease in the number of poultry farms affected by avian influenza in 
2023 compared to 2022. While this result is mainly due to a decrease of the virus load in 
migrating birds, government communications with industry and producers complying 
with guidance also played a significant role. 

• Eradicated regulated weeds on 116,348 kilometers of municipal roadways and 
inspected and licensed 89 stationary and mobile seed cleaning plants that will lower 
costs for farms. 
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• The Alberta Plant Health Lab provided crop diagnostic support including a tool for 
detecting both canola Verticillium wilt and blackleg, which present similarly and co-
exist in the same plants, but have different treatment approaches. 

• In 2023-24, 659 Environmental Farm Plans (EFPs) were completed, and 51 EFP 
producer workshops across Alberta were attended by 254 producers.  

• 1,150 inspections and 21 independent engineering assessments were performed on 
government-owned water management infrastructure to ensure reliable water supplies, 
increase water availability and enhance public safety. 
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Discussion and Analysis of Results  

Actions that support the priorities of the Government of Alberta Strategic Plan 
  

Key Priority One: Securing Alberta’s Future 
Objective Two: Attracting investment and growing the economy.   

Action: Developing and implementing a competitive Agri-Food and Value-Added Processing and 
Manufacturing program to help industry reach its full economic potential and contribute to the 
provincial economy. Incentivizing increased capital investment will enable Alberta to maintain 
its advantage in agri-food manufacturing within Western Canada. 

Results: The Agri-Processing Investment Tax Credit program was launched in 2023 to stimulate 
large-scale investment in Alberta’s value-added agricultural processing capacity. Six conditional 
approval letters have been issued to value-added agriculture processors to date, one of which 
has been announced. This program builds on other AGI programs to facilitate competitive and 
sustainable growth as other jurisdictions apply incentive programs to enhance their strengths 
and advantages. 

Detailed reporting found on page 33. 

Objective Three: Building Alberta  

Action: Investing in the expansion and improvement of the irrigation network in Alberta. 
Investments in irrigation will enhance crop production through the ability to grow an 
increasingly diverse array of crops that cannot be grown under dryland conditions and provide 
expanded food manufacturing opportunities. 

Results: A total of 84.2 per cent of irrigated agricultural farmlands in the irrigation districts 
were reported as efficiently irrigated in 2022-23. This is a 4.8 per cent increase compared to four  
years earlier, which demonstrates a continual increase in the number of acres that can be 
irrigated using the same amount of water. 

The Irrigating Alberta Infrastructure Investment Grant is a $933 million partnership until 2028 
that could expand irrigated agricultural lands by up to 230,000 acres. As of 2023-24, there have 
been 38 of 92 projects substantially completed to make better use of irrigation water supply and 
increase agricultural production. 

Detailed reporting found on page 24.  
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Sustainable Canadian Agricultural Partnership:  Year One  
The Sustainable Canadian Agricultural Partnership (Sustainable CAP) is a five-year (2023-28), 
$3.5 billion investment that includes $1 billion in federal programs and activities, and 
$2.5 billion in cost-shared programs and activities by federal-provincial-territorial governments. 
Alberta's cost-shared support for its agricultural sector continued innovation, growth and 
prosperity is $508 million over five years ($304.8 million in federal funds, $203.2 million in 
provincial matching funds). 

The ministry used these funds to deliver impactful ministry supports and services via nine grant 
programs and one initiative across the five priority areas agreed upon by federal-provincial-
territorial parties, with the overall goals of: 

• Stimulating the creation of new jobs and spur growth in the agriculture sector. 
• Supporting value-added processing competitiveness, attraction of new investment 

and expansion of irrigation capacity that will enhance crop production. 
• Protecting plant and animal health and animal welfare, managing risks to natural 

resources and investing in producer-led agriculture research.  
Similar to the previous five-year agreement (2018-23), eligible applicants under the current 
agreement included primary producers, farmers, ranchers, processors, post-secondary 
institutions, research bodies and institutions, not for profits, municipalities, Indigenous 
individuals and groups and grazing associations.  

Top five eligible recipients: processors (110 grants), primary producers (1,035 grants), 
research bodies (16), industry organizations (18) and service providers (3). Total approved for 
2023-24: $56.8 million across 1,185 grants grouped under five focus areas below: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

          
          Source: Agriculture and Irrigation 
        Note: Value of approved grants will not match actuals due to multiyear commitments.  

 

 

https://www.alberta.ca/sustainable-cap
https://www.alberta.ca/sustainable-cap
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Outcome One: Alberta’s economic growth is supported by increased investments, 
expanded trade in Alberta’s agriculture sector and by maximizing economic 
opportunities across Alberta 
AGI is committed to improving competitiveness for the agri-food sector, including irrigated 
agriculture, and supporting rural economic development. 

Key Objectives 

1.1 Provide export and trade services to help Alberta’s agriculture producers and 
processors expand their exports into existing and new markets. 

Representing Alberta’s Trade Interests 

Securing offshore market access involves vigorous advocacy to open up new or closed markets 
for Alberta’s agricultural products. Alberta supported Canada’s effort in regaining full market 
access to Taiwan for a variety of Canadian beef and beef products. In 2023, Alberta exported $8.3 
million worth of beef to Taiwan, a 16.7 per cent increase from 2022; this figure is expected to grow 
now that Taiwan has at long last lifted its import ban on all types of Canadian beef. The ministry 
continues to work with government and industry partners towards an export framework that 
streamlines requirements, standards and regulations in support of international outflows of 
primary agricultural and processed products. Results of pre-cleared trial shipments to Japan were 
reviewed with federal and international parties to determine if standard export review and 
authorization practices can be streamlined. Export process reliability and cost-benefit 
investigations continue to be examined. Responsive actions to support Alberta’s export readiness 
and capacity to meet market demands and address market barriers include transitioning to digital 
signatures and other documentation changes.   

Ensuring bilateral trade with our top trading partner, the United States, flows smoothly is a 
priority for Alberta. In this regard, the ministry expressed concerns to the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture, Food Safety and Inspection Service regarding the voluntary “Product of USA” labelling 
rule for agricultural products that will become effective January 2026. Although voluntary, the rule 
could jeopardize the highly integrated North American meat and livestock supply chains and may 
prove to be contrary to U.S. international trade obligations. Alberta will continue to closely monitor 
the rule for any adverse trade impacts on Alberta’s agriculture and agri-food exports to the U.S. 
market. 

In response to U.S. state level animal welfare regulations (particularly California’s Proposition 12) 
that have created compliance challenges for certain Alberta agriculture exports into the state, in 
April 2024, Alberta and other provinces started an advocacy campaign with U.S. Congress 
outlining provincial concerns. The advocacy stresses how conflicting animal welfare standards 
across states could disrupt supply chain continuity and impact the mutually beneficial cross-border 
trade in agricultural livestock and meat products.  

Advocating for a Competitive Landscape for Alberta Producers  

In addition to promoting Alberta’s position in multilateral and bilateral trade negotiations and non-
discriminatory treatment of Alberta’s businesses in the Indo-Pacific region, the ministry pursued 
federal regulatory changes to reduce unnecessary economic strain on beef processors as a result of 
the current specified risk material (SRM) requirements. Industry estimates SRM compliance costs 
an additional $31 million a year in handling and disposal costs compared to U.S. counterparts. 
Canadian requirements are well above other countries with the same negligible risk status for 
bovine spongiform encephalopathy.  
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Through research, diagnostic testing and inspection services, Alberta beekeepers are supported to 
prevent or control the spread of honeybee diseases and pest in view of few domestic colony 
development opportunities due to climate and geographic factors. Import opportunities to 
replenish beehives from New Zealand, Australia and Chile each spring are subject to air 
transportation issues. As such, the ministry worked collaboratively with Air Canada, honeybee 
importers and transportation partners to develop standards for air cargo transport of live bees that 
will build future sources of queen and package bees. This follows on the ministry’s successful 
advocacy for federal review of the 2013 Canadian Food Inspection Agency pest and disease 
risk assessment for long-term resolution of access to honeybee restocking sources in the United 
States. 

Growing Domestic and International Markets 

Alberta international offices and Alberta-based trade development officers promoted Alberta as a 
trusted supplier of quality agricultural products, helping local companies become export-ready, and 
supporting introductions of Alberta companies to retail buyers. Actions to enhance Alberta’s 
agricultural export capacity so that industries and companies are well-positioned for growth and 
success in local and international markets included: 

• Reducing domestic barriers to value-added processing and expansion: $16,000 
was spent on the successful Lloydminster Interprovincial Trade Pilot with regulatory 
amendments currently underway to permanently exempt Lloydminster from the Safe 
Food for Canadians Regulations. This has given rise to consideration of additional meat 
trade pilots. Work continues with industry and through federal-provincial-territorial 
initiatives to use existing, dependable food safety standards, trade networks and 
distribution infrastructure in other border communities. 

• Fostering domestic and national market growth: 492 Alberta-based participants 
were involved in market development activities which led to 1,104 new business 
connections including orders for Mexican grocery stores and improved awareness of 
regulatory requirements, certification and customer preferences to maximize their 
presence at international trade shows such as Congreso Ganadero de las Estrellas in 
Mexico, Biofach in Germany, FoodEx in Japan, and Food2China Expo in China.  

• Implementing 90 export development initiatives, including 43 initiatives to connect 
Alberta companies with international buyers, 34 market readiness initiatives to prepare 
companies to enter new markets, and 13 market promotions and seminars that profiled 
Alberta and its agricultural products. 

Strategic coordination of services and supports to expand access to established and new priority 
export markets contributed to a remarkable increase of 10.5 per cent in Alberta’s total agri-food 
exports in 2023 compared to the previous year. See Performance Indicator 1.c.  

1.2 Attract investment to grow, diversify, and improve competitiveness of the agriculture 
and value-added agriculture sectors. 

Concierge Service to Investors  

The ministry offered concierge services to meet investors’ unique needs in site selection, access to 
grant funding opportunities, navigating regulatory processes, introductions to partners and 
suppliers, and aftercare. Examples of supported value-added processing investors include:  



 

Results Analysis 
 

 

22 Agriculture and Irrigation | Annual Report 2023–2024 

Classification: Public 

• English Bay Blending and Fine Chocolates: invested $30 million to build a new 
processing facility in Stony Plain. The facility is expected to create 75 permanent jobs in 
2025. 

• McCain Foods Limited: doubled the size and output of its Lethbridge County facility, 
which is expected to create 260 jobs, boosting the facility’s workforce to 485 using 
modern and environmentally conscious manufacturing processes. 

• Pattison Food Group Ltd.: invested approximately $18 million to establish a new 
60,000 square foot meat processing facility in Edmonton to be managed by Five Corners 
Meat Co. The facility is expected to create 88 jobs once operational. 

Increasing Agricultural Product Innovation and Commercialization 

The unique ecosystem of scientific expertise and specialized facilities offered by the Ministry 
provided business development, product and process development, and business incubation 
support to a wide range of companies under a total of 104 service agreements resulting in the 
launch of 23 new products. Six companies manufactured product at these facilities for export or 
export evaluation for the United States and Asia.  

Bio-Processing Innovation Centre (BPIC) and Bio-Industrial Development Laboratory 
facilities, equipment and expert services supported 30 process development, scale up and interim 
manufacturing projects, including bioplastics and reuse of agricultural waste with seven companies 
launching nine new bio-based products to market. BPIC also hosted 18 webinars, workshops and 
missions with 585 participants focused on growing business for new and existing business owners. 

The federally licensed Food Processing Development Centre (FPDC) focuses on value-added food 
products, food processes and industry-led applied research using crops and livestock products. 
Business development, product and process development and business incubation services helped 
companies through 74 service agreements launch 14 new value-added food products to market. 
The ministry successfully supported the viability of new and growing value-added processors by 
enabling them to defer costs and risky investments, while continuing to enhance Alberta’s 
economic diversification. Examples of market acceleration through product development and 
interim manufacturing included: 

• Formulation, prototyping and process development for Ellie Bianca’s skincare and 
cosmetic products at the Bio-Processing Innovation Centre (BPIC). The company 
manufactures for sale and fulfills audit requirements that will enable products to be on 
more major retailers’ shelves. 

• With FPDC’s business development support and manufacturing equipment and 
facilities, Red House Salsa scaled up their production, leading to successful product 
distribution to more than 80 retailers across Alberta and British Columbia. 

• Plant Plus’ product and process innovation developed a fully compostable drinking 
straw product from locally sourced hemp fibres, pea starch and other eco-friendly 
materials. Manufacturing process development continues through BPIC facilities. 

Made-in Alberta Program 

The Made-in-Alberta voluntary labelling program launched in 2022 had more than 300 
producers and processors enrolled in the program and more than 500 products registered in 12 
categories as of April 2024. The five-year project is supported by $5 million in funding from 
September 1, 2022, to May 31, 2027. An external program administrator was provided $1 million in 
2023-24 to run the program which helps shoppers identify local products more easily and 
promotes Alberta-made foods and beverages. Sixteen companies using BPIC, FPDC and other 
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ministry facilities and services also took advantage of promotion opportunities such as the Made-
in-Alberta website, billboard advertising and promotions through retail stores. Value-added 
processors accessing multiple ministry services indicates the services are relevant and necessary. 

Supporting Agricultural Research 

Results Driven Agriculture Research (RDAR) is a third-party not-for-profit organization that 
received $38.5 million in 2023-24 for research priorities put forward by Alberta producers, 
industry groups, processors and academic experts. Research priorities include supporting the 
development of climate-resistant crop varieties and farmed animal genetics and breeds, minimizing 
the environmental footprint of Alberta’s agriculture and agri-food sector, addressing animal and 
human health, and driving irrigation innovation. Anticipated tangible benefits include higher profits 
to producers and a more abundant food supply at an affordable cost to consumers. These 
investments enable agricultural innovations across the province, helping producers to adopt 
beneficial practices on their farms and become more competitive globally. Every $1 invested by 
RDAR was matched by approximately $2.9 from industry; in other words, every $1 from RDAR 
equals a $3.9 investment in agricultural research.    

1.3 Continue to invest in the expansion and improvement of the irrigation network in 
Alberta to maintain Alberta’s standing as a leader in food development and 
distribution, including new irrigation opportunities. 

Alberta has about 70 per cent of Canada’s irrigated agriculture on about 1.5 million acres, less than 
five per cent of the province’s cultivated lands. Irrigated acres grow diverse crops and intensive 
livestock feeding operations. About 21 per cent of irrigated areas in the irrigation districts (IDs) 
grew specialty crops such as sugar beets, alfalfa, hemp, dry beans, dry peas and potatoes. Irrigation 
expansion and improvements allow producers to take advantage of a wider range of markets. 
Additional water availability and usage improvement feasibility studies, policy and programming 
work with partners are described under Outcome 3.  

Most water conveyance modernization projects involve stages of pipeline installations with a 
wide variety of timelines and requirements. Projects are approved based on factors such as 
irrigation district (ID) size, existing infrastructure and readiness for cost-sharing. Each 
participating ID determines new land that will receive 
irrigation water, and districts are limited in how much they 
can expand. Gradual water efficiency improvements 
consistently carried out over long periods can achieve up to 
25 per cent gains. Incremental annual gains are important for 
the ministry’s irrigation strategy to maximizing crop 
production with reduced agriculture’s footprint on natural 
resources while maximizing crop production. 

The Irrigation Rehabilitation Program (IRP) was funded 
with $13.5 million in 2023-24 to support conversion and 
rehabilitation of open, unlined canals to newer, more water 
efficient technology, including lined canals and pipelines. 
Modernization reduces water loss through seepage and 
evaporation. Improvements in water conveyance efficiency 
allow more to be done within the existing irrigation water 
allocation and may lead to increased ability to grow crops 
that require more water. IDs contribute 25 per cent to IRP 
investments while the ministry contributes 75 per cent. 
Projects completed for better water security included: 

• A total of 84.2 per cent of 
irrigated farmlands in the 
irrigation districts were under 
efficient irrigation in 2022-23, 
so that more acres can be 
irrigated using the same 
amount of water. This is a 4.8 
per cent increase compared to 
four years earlier. 

• In 2023-24, $13.5 million was 
spent on Irrigation 
Rehabilitation Program 
projects to improve water-use 
efficiency to allow more acres 
to be irrigated within existing 
water licences, and to set 
aside water for agri-processing 
needs. 
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• Improved water efficiency: installed 2.55 kilometres of buried pipeline to replace an 
open channel canal, reducing maintenance costs while delivering water for 4,422 
irrigated acres, livestock operations and others users.  

• Increased system capacity: Installed 1.14 kilometres of buried pipeline to replace a 
deteriorating canal, improving water efficiency. Part of a larger, multi-year project that 
serves 691 irrigated acres and domestic, habitat and livestock users. 

The ministry also enabled producers to grow irrigated crops through the Irrigating Alberta 
Infrastructure Investment Grant, a one-time acceleration initiative of IRP-like projects jointly 
funded by Canada Infrastructure Bank (50 per cent to be repaid by the IDs), nine participating IDs 
(20 per cent) and the ministry (30 per cent or $279.8 million). Year Three of the $933 million 
agreement saw $22.3 million invested to complete 38 out of 92 projects, and significant progress on 
38 others, including four water storage projects at early stages. Up to 6,800 direct and indirect 
permanent jobs, and up to 1,280 construction jobs are estimated to be created through these large-
scale projects. Various funding contributions will be added in stages each year until 2028, as 
construction continues to proceed as planned. This project will increase primary agriculture 
production capacity and support a diversified value-added processing sector by increasing 
Alberta’s irrigated area by up to 208,000 acres. 

Across the spectrum of irrigation rehabilitation, modernization and improvement projects, IDs 
pipeline grew to 4,645 kilometres out of 7,721 kilometres in total conveyance works. Irrigation 
through pipeline increased to 60.1 per cent in the 2022 irrigation year (latest available data) 
compared to 56.5 per cent in the 2018 irrigation year. Approximately 3.7 kilometres of open canals 
were moved to pipeline, benefitting 5,115 acres. These results meet ministry objectives to work 
with key water partners involved in water management and governance in support of long-term 
agricultural water quality and availability. 

1.4 Provide the next generation of farmers with access to capital through Agriculture 
Financial Services Corporation lending services to sustain farm operations and 
agricultural production. 

AFSC continued to provide access to capital for new and young producers, developing 
producers and value-added agribusinesses with favourable loan terms.  AFSC staff provided 
insightful and practical advice based on industry experience to guide lending and risk management 
decisions that sustain agricultural growth and commercial activities which in turn strengthen rural 
communities.  

The Next Generation Loan provides opportunities for those starting a farm or taking over an 
existing family farm by assisting them with farmland purchases, equipment, livestock, and capital 
improvements. Lower interest rate options and loan periods of up to 35 years help producers under 
40 years of age and those entering the industry, manage capital costs associated with farming. In 
2023-24, 805 Next Generation loans were authorized for a total of $321 million in direct dollars, 
resulting in a total project dollar investment of $368 million. 

The Developing Producer loan provides a consistent source of fixed-rate loan terms to expand 
farm operations including renovations and share purchases for change of ownership. In 2023-24, 
387 Developing Producer loans were authorized for a total of $142 million, resulting in $174 
million in total project dollar investments. Producers and agribusinesses also received 138 
approvals for $53 million through the Revolving and Agribusiness loans to make agriculture-related 
capital available.  

The Feeder Association Loan Guarantee Program helps local, producer-run cooperatives obtain 
competitive financing. Alberta increased the overall loan guarantee from $100 million to $150 
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million in November 2022. Individual and joint loan limits, excluding advances, increased from $2 
million to $3 million in July 2023, further improving small- to medium-sized livestock producers’ 
access to capital so they can grow their businesses. In addition, the maximum number of supply 
periods (contracts) increased from four to six to provide members of feeder associations with more 
options to purchase and market livestock as well as generate better cash flow for their operations. 
The program financed 45 feeder associations with 2,000 livestock members to finish about 25 per 
cent of calves in Alberta by using the guarantee to secure capital from lending institutions. Changes 
to legislation and policies increased opportunities to purchase beef calves and sheep due to higher 
cattle prices and greater demand for feeder cattle. The tangible increase in loan limits improves 
future prospects for Alberta’s cattle feeders and makes the industry more accessible for new 
entrants and young farmers. 

Performance Measure 1.a: Annual total value of investment in the primary and agri-
processing sectors facilitated through ministry investment initiatives, and the 
corresponding jobs created.  

 
Prior Years’ Results  

2023-24 
2023-24 
 Annual 
Target 

2023-24 
Annual 
Actual 

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-231 

Cumulative 
Investment 
Enabled  
($ millions) 

$527 $886 $1,483 $2,105 Annual 
Investment 
Enabled  
($ millions) 

$5392 $3,054 

Cumulative 
Jobs Created 

981 2,128 2,998 4,144 Annual 
Jobs 
Enabled 

1,0432  1,323 

Source: Agriculture and Irrigation. 

1Note: The results for 2022-23 have been revised to reflect the addition of $10 million in value-added agriculture 
investment and the associated 12 jobs to be created.  

2Note: Adjusted targets for 2023-24 in the 2024-27 Ministry Business Plan are reflected in this chart. Performance 
measure changed from being reported cumulatively to annually in 2023-24. Results for 2019-20, 2020-21, 2021-22, and 
2022-23 represent the cumulative investment enabled and cumulative jobs created. Results starting in 2023-24 and 
moving forward are reported as annual investment enabled and annual jobs created to reflect the nature of programs and 
their uptake. 

Description: This performance measure captures total investment in the agri-food industries and 
the corresponding job creation enabled by the department’s investment attraction efforts, not 
including Agriculture Financial Services Corporation lending-enabled investment. Investments in 
the agriculture and agri-processing sectors are anticipated to grow Alberta’s productive capacity, 
increase competitiveness, facilitate employment opportunities and contribute to Alberta’s long-
term economic performance. 
Rationale: Building manufacturing and processing capacity to capture value-added opportunities 
and create jobs here in Alberta requires attracting substantial investments nationally and 
internationally requires departmental efforts including effective concierge services, targeted grant 
programs and incentives. A growing value-added processing sector enhances Alberta’s 
competitiveness, economic diversification and GDP growth.  A strong value-added processing sector 
also increases domestic market alternatives for the primary sector and reduces its exposure to 
global commodity market instability.   
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Results and Variance Explanation:  In 2023-24, the ministry facilitated more than $3 billion in 
new investments that supported the creation of 1,323 new, permanent jobs. The 2023-24 targets 
for investment and job creation ($539 million and 1,043, respectively) were exceeded due to 
focused investment attraction efforts through concierge services, grants and the Agri-Processing 
Investment Tax Credit program. It should be noted that it can take several years to confirm 
investment and job creation results for large, multi-year investment projects. As well, a small 
number of investments could generate highly impactful results. For example, one investment in 
2023-24 accounted for about 39 per cent of the reported annual investment enabled. The top five 
confirmed investments accounted for $2.8 billion in investment (90.7 per cent of the annual result) 
and for 572 jobs created (43 per cent of the annual result). 
Performance Measure 1.b: Percentage of irrigated agriculture area using efficient irrigation 
systems within Alberta’s eleven irrigation districts. 

Percentage of irrigated 
agriculture area under 
efficient irrigation systems 

Prior Years’ Results 
2023-24 
Target 

2023-24 
Actual 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

79% 80% 81% 83% 84% 84% N/A 

Source: 11 Irrigation Districts and Agriculture and Irrigation (2022 results as of June 2024) 
Note: Adjusted targets for 2023-24 in the 2024-27 Ministry Business Plan are reflected in this chart. 
Note: Results for 2023-24 actual will be available in July 2024 
 

Description: The percentage of irrigated area using efficient on-farm water application systems 
(e.g., low pressure sprinkler irrigation systems) within the 11 irrigation districts measures how 
efficiently irrigation water is applied to field crops. The objective is to apply the water to the crop 
root zone to meet crop water requirements and optimize yield. High efficiency irrigation lowers 
operating costs, improves production per unit of water delivered, helps to promote better or 
improved use of water resources in agriculture, and may improve environmental management.   
Rationale: AGI supports advancement in this metric through actions like the monitoring of water 
application methods across the 11 irrigation districts, and through technical and financial support 
to irrigators to make this practice change through the Sustainable CAP Water program. 
Results and Variance Explanation: During the 2022 irrigation season (May to September), more 
than 1.4 million acres of irrigated agricultural farmlands were under efficient irrigation systems 
within the 11 irrigation districts, an 84.2 adoption rate. This result is slightly higher than this year’s 
target and the prior year’s result, continuing to the upward trend over the past five years. The 
improvement is due in part to financial incentives provided to farmers to purchase more efficient 
on-farm irrigation systems. 
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Performance Indicator 1.c: Value of Alberta’s primary agriculture commodities and value-
added agriculture products exports. ($ in millions) 

Value of Alberta’s Agricultural 
Exports 

Prior Years’ Results  

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 
Results 

Primary Agriculture 
Commodities 

5,808 5,272 6,325 5,869 7,298 8,207 

Value-Added Agriculture 
Products 

6,074 6,372 6,683 8,252 8,891 9,684 

Source: Statistics Canada; Agriculture and Irrigation (Results current as of May 22, 2024) 

The export values help understand not only the export performance of each category, but also their 
relative share in total export performance. Increasing the export share of value-added products 
relative to primary commodities allows the industry to generate and retain a larger portion of 
revenues and economic benefits from global agri-food trade. Primary agricultural commodities 
such as crops or livestock are more prone to global market swings than value-added agricultural 
products such as canola oil and beef. 
The ministry contributes to these export results through market access advocacy and programs, 
services, processes and facilities that generate more export-ready value-added products which adds 
value to the supply chain that includes transportation, logistics, refrigerated storage facilities, 
wholesale and retail distributors, and the food service industry. 
In 2023, exports of primary commodities rose 12.5 per cent in value to $8.2 billion. Higher export 
values for wheat, dry peas, live cattle (excluding purebred), barley, lentils, and others contributed 
to the increase. Exports of value-added products grew 8.9 per cent in value to $9.6 billion in 2023. 
This was due to increased export values of canola oil (refined), beef, processed potatoes, malt 
(roasted or not roasted) oilseed cake and meal, and other products. 

Outcome Two: Alberta’s competitive business environment provides a strong foundation 
for resilient agriculture sectors and rural communities  
The ministry seeks to create a business environment and improved infrastructure upon which the 
agriculture sector and rural communities can thrive and achieve their business goals and full 
economic potential. 

Key Objectives 

2.1 Coordinate government-wide effort on rural economic development.  

Alberta’s Economic Development in Rural Alberta Plan (EDRAP) sets out a five-year 
commitment (2023-28) to enable rural Albertans to build strong, self-reliant communities and 
foster conditions that enrich community life. The following five strategic directions are anticipated 
to address unique challenges and unlock broad economic potential for long-term rural economic 
growth.  
Improving Enabling Infrastructure 
A total capital grant of $2.5 million was approved through the Agricultural Societies 
Infrastructure Revitalization Program for 34 projects to support up to $100,000 in major repairs 
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and infrastructure improvements at existing agricultural society facilities so that they can continue 
to serve their respective rural communities. 
Two hundred and ninety-one primary and regional agricultural societies were supported through 
the Agricultural Societies Grant Program to encourage improvements in agriculture and enhance 
quality of life in rural communities. of Ministry annual funding of $11.5 million to support 
operational expenses was topped by direct spending by agricultural societies totaling 
approximately $100 million. 
Advance Entrepreneurship Capacity and Innovation 
The Small Community Opportunity Program (SCOP) targeted challenges experienced by local 
business related to entrepreneurship, mentorship, and building networks. SCOP offered Indigenous 
and/or small communities, and the non-profits they work with, grants focusing on agriculture, local 
economic development and small business supports. Forty-three applications received $3.24 
million. Key stakeholders that focus on economic development in rural Alberta’s communities 
received $0.46 million, including public library boards to build local work skills and learn about the 
changing economic environment. 
Enable Skills Development that Enhances Workforce Capacity 
To facilitate rural businesses’ ability to attract and retain skilled workers, the ministry provided 
$2.5 million to the Agriculture for Life initiative to raise awareness of agriculture jobs, provide 
training and support to recruit, hire, and retain workers in the agriculture and agri-food industry. 
An example recipient, Serfas Farms in Turin, was approved for $30,000 to improve recruitment and 
human resource practices that reduces heavy reliance on seasonal workers toward employing more 
full-time, skilled workers. 
In collaboration with Intergovernmental Relations, Education, and regional colleges, the Green 
Certificate Program had 1,487 participating students. This program is offered in 267 high schools 
that span 352 communities across Alberta. The 499 program completions in 2023-24, which is a 
nine percent increase from 2022-23,  strengthens Alberta’s rural economy through the skills-based 
development program that may enable the agriculture industry to retain an experienced workforce. 
Students earned credits towards graduation through off-campus, apprenticeship-style learning 
opportunities with experienced farm personnel. The curriculum was developed by industry to 
encourage students to choose agriculture-related education or careers.  
Enhance Rural Tourism 
Alberta Approved Farmers’ Market programs support local producers and agri-processing 
businesses to contribute to the growth of Alberta’s economy. In 2023, 149 Alberta Approved 
Farmers’ Markets operated for a total of 4,203 market days. This program further helped local 
producers and agri-processing businesses to build connections with non-profits, local Chambers of 
Commerce and community and business associations, while hosting more than 3.6 million visitors. 
In 2023, 77 per cent of the markets serve rural communities with populations of less than 10,000, 
and 112 communities across Alberta were served by at least one Alberta approved farmers’ market. 
The Alberta Association of Agricultural Societies was provided with $100,000 to train and offer 
sales know-how to producers for continued success of Open Farm Days. This program enhances 
public awareness of how food is grown and made in Alberta. One hundred and thirty-three host 
farms and agri-food entrepreneurs participated in the agri-tourism opportunity and became 
involved in educating consumers and raising awareness about farming practices. In 2023, $299,000 
in sales represented a 33 percent increase despite 15 per cent fewer visitors (35,811) compared to 
2022. The increase in sales is due to higher spending per person at 76 food events compared to 70 
in 2022. The ministry improved pre-event training for participating farms, which resulted in more 
products for sale at increased prices. The decrease in total visitors could be due to many factors, 
including weather-related issues resulting in less travel. 
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Stimulate Rural Capacity Building 
Financial supports and programming to increase public awareness included Sustainable CAP 
Resiliency and Public Trust incentives that help producers build consumer confidence in 
Alberta’s agriculture and agri-food sectors while improving attraction and retention of skilled 
workers in rural communities. The ministry committed $7 million to 21 opportunities to improve 
awareness about best practices and continuous improvements that support public trust such as: 

• Inside Education’s Experiential Agriculture Education provided K-12 students and 
teachers with real-world insight into agriculture and agri-food science, technology, 
innovations and careers.  

• AgKnow Alberta Farm Mental Health Network applied $388,500 to expand producer 
support during stressful crises such as disease outbreaks and drought that increase 
unpredictability of farm operations, workload and financial pressures. 

• VBP+ Extension through Alberta Beef Producers trains and certifies Alberta beef 
operations in sustainable production practices which increases access to sustainable 
supply chains and lowers industry-wide risks associated with food safety. 

4-H Alberta received $1 million to provide experiential education and help develop youth into 
tomorrow’s agricultural and rural leaders through more than 5,500 members participating at 280 
locations across Alberta. Thirteen 4-H members participated in the Ag Next Gen Tour to gain 
insights into agriculture and food careers across Alberta.  

In recognition of leadership and stewardship in agriculture and agri-food industries, 47 families 
who have made multi-generational contributions received the Century Farm and Ranch Award in 
2023-24. Further, KAC Agricultural Society, Stettler District Agricultural Society and La Crete 
Agricultural Society were recognized for their creativity, resilience and commitment to their 
communities through the Alberta Agricultural Society Innovation Award. The Women in Ag 
Awards recognized eight women in agriculture and agribusinesses and were provided means to 
attend the Women in Agriculture Conference that further celebrated the growing presence of 
women in agriculture. 

In 2023-24, 6,000 subscribers across Alberta accessed 48 issues of the ministry’s Agri-News 
weekly newsletter that helps rural business owners of all types make timely decisions and plan for 
a strong agricultural future. 310-FARM supported 8,573 calls as the ministry’s first point-of-
contact that provides prompt referrals to specific programs and agriculture-related resources for 
Albertans. The 25 per cent increase in calls compared to in the previous fiscal year reflects 
consistent efforts to inform rural Albertans of opportunities and risk management approaches. 
Common inquiries related to access to grants (21 per cent), Premises Identification (16 per cent), 
water (14 per cent), and Farmers Advocate Office services (7 per cent). Other calls sought advice 
and support regarding avian influenza, pests (rats, wild boar), crop pests and diseases, farm 
management, and livestock inquiries.  

The Farmers’ and Property Rights Advocate Office (FPRAO) allocated $1.1 million to support more 
than 1,189 rural landowner and property owner inquiries, legal and advocacy needs by phone and 
email, and provided 189 mediation services, including resolving 63 Farm Implement Inspector 
issues without requiring Farm Implement Board hearings. In addition to licensing 500 farm 
implement dealers and distributors, FPRAO also: 

• Worked with farm implement stakeholders to determine the best approaches to retain 
Albertans’ right to repair increasingly digital machinery, and secure associated farm 
data. 
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• Informed Albertans about renewable energy project approvals, reclamation processes, 
and restrictions on agricultural land development through 35 presentations, webinars 
and engagements, and distributed and updated associated materials to enable effective 
decision-making, and rural business retention, expansion and attraction. 

These achievements demonstrate that FPRAO is meeting Albertans’ needs as part of the broader 
legislative and justice system. Improved consumer and landowner services that enabled rural 
Albertans to access accurate, reliable and actionable information, dispute resolution, and other 
interventions that make legal processes transparent and parties accountable show FPRAO’s value 
to Albertans. 

Additional Enabling Support for Rural Business Success 

Legislative changes and governance framework improvements supported the creation of the new 
River Valley Agricultural Society in the Hinton area, increasing the total primary agricultural 
societies to 284. Timely assistance enabled planning for fundraising, equine first aid training and 
networking opportunities, 2024 rodeo preparations, and the non-profit’s first annual general 
meeting. These changes also supported 27 agricultural societies that have been incorporated for 
more than 100 years to evolve and stay relevant. 

Agribusiness competitiveness analyses provided directly to businesses also helped develop 
programs, services and policies. For example, Agriprofit$ reports provide insight into cow-calf 
business costs, like winter feed or fuel, and how they change over time. This service is tailored to 
support startups, and growth and expansion of beef, dairy, dryland and irrigated crops, greenhouse 
growers, beekeepers and more, in exchange for participation in data gathering research that 
benefits industry. 

Farm safety education delivered in collaboration with AgSafe Alberta focused on confined spaces, 
respiratory health and safety, and public awareness and education to prevent grain entrapment 
including firefighter training using specialized grain rescue equipment and procedures.  

Cumulatively, programs and services highlighted and summarized for this Key Objective benefitted 
rural communities to access accurate and necessary information, programs and services to build 
long-term resilience in the face of unique challenges. The ministry will evaluate and review 
supports that incentivize local vibrancy to ensure a centralized approach is working as intended 
and achieving strategic objectives. Related priority actions that contributed directly to the health 
and growth of rural economic development are found under other Key Objectives of this annual 
report: value-added agriculture, irrigation, and water supply and infrastructure management. 

2.2 Deliver agricultural insurance products to give producers tools to reduce agricultural 
production risk.  

The suite of Business Risk Management (BRM) products and programs are designed to be 
responsive to how producers are adapting to changing weather patterns and business challenges. 
Most of the province received below-average moisture during the year. In preparation for dry 
conditions in the 2024 growing season, and to improve upon drought responses in two previous 
years, agricultural insurance awareness was promoted and insurance policies were improved using 
producer feedback. Producers are encouraged to use comprehensive and supplemental BRM 
programs offered through Agriculture Financial Services Corporation (AFSC). 

Moisture Deficiency Insurance (MDI) for pasture shifted from annual to monthly payments to 
enable eligible producers to quickly access cash to get feed at critical times. Significant 
improvements in policies for minimum rainfall amounts and ways to address high temperatures 
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increased protection for livestock producers against drought. These changes may contribute to 
more insured producers and decrease their reliance on AgriRecovery in the future. These 
improvements resulted in increased payouts to producers for the 2023 growing season, in which 
$326 million was paid out, with producers contributing $66 million in premiums.  

Silage Greenfeed Insurance (SGI) for annual crops offer payouts when moisture at weather 
stations fall below 80 per cent of historic levels. A cumulative 22 per cent increase in participation 
since 2021 was achieved due to AFSC’s ongoing work to increase awareness about this type of 
insurance during ongoing dry conditions. Increased producer awareness is correlated with 
increased insured acres from 460,000 in 2021 to 538,000 in 2022 (nearly 17 per cent increase), to 
566,000 acres in 2023, a 5 per cent increase compared to 2022. 

Producers also increased participation in perennial crop production insurance in 2023. The 
increase is associated with changes made to crop insurance coverage related to dry conditions such 
as increased compensation for reseeding and increased coverage for hail. Program participation is 
anticipated to continue trending upwards for the 2024 growing season. In 2023, 17.8 million 
annual crop acres were covered for over $1.5 billion in losses (6,833 applications processed as of 
April 2024) for which farmers paid $1.2 billion in premiums. Farmers also got value for money by 
insuring 8.5 million perennial crop acres for $348 million in losses (5,627 applications processed as 
of April 2024), while paying $73.8 million in premiums. In 2023, 18.5 million acres were covered 
under hail insurance. Performance Measure 2.a further describes crop insurance protection results. 

Other timely benefits during a low moisture growing season included doubling of the low-yield 
allowance, which incentivized producers to shift low yielding grain crops to livestock feed during 
poor growing conditions. Irrigators insured 930,460 irrigated annual crop acres for $1.1 billion in 
liability, and 19,183 irrigated perennial crop acres for $10.9 million in liability. 

Improving BRM Relevance, Timeliness and Responsiveness 

The ministry worked to keep premiums affordable for clients, maintain coverage that reflects the 
value of their crops, and keep participation levels consistent year to year. Annual and perennial 
insurance premium increases are capped at 10 per cent in most cases. This cap is part of a long 
term approach to ensure insurance premiums are stable and predictable as producers face rising 
costs. Insurance coverage that adjusts to market conditions further allows producers to accurately 
insure their crops based on the markets they are exposed to. Coverage options are tailored to 
producers to reduce coverage levels that match producer budgets, and challenges in cash flow as 
part of farm-specific, long-term risk management strategies.  

The ministry improved BRM knowledge and skills to support decisions about intergenerational 
farm transitions and succession planning. Information about fixed-rate term loans was shared at 
three Bridging the Gap workshops in Red Deer, Lethbridge and Grande Prairie. More than 400 
participants attended the workshops and gained awareness about flexible insurance, lending 
options, and trends and approaches that may enable farm profitability and a secure agricultural 
future. These events also include topics related to navigating the farm transition journey and 
understanding legal and tax issues as well as information on where to access resources. The Dish 
risk management workshops had 270 attendees in Olds and Lethbridge. 

Producers who participate in the AgriStability program receive compensation and support when 
they experience significant margin declines for their whole farming operation. These declines could 
happen due to production shortfalls, falling commodity prices, and/or rising input costs.  In 2023 
the AgriStability program paid out $45.8 million to 6,433 producers for margin declines they 
experienced in the 2022 production year.  (AgriStability payments rely on tax returns and therefore 
data is a year behind.)   
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AFSC received 7,847 applications for the 2023 Canada-Alberta Drought Livestock Assistance 
AgriRecovery Program representing approximately 1.3 million animals, 93 per cent of which were 
cattle. Program funding of $165 million covered extraordinary losses incurred to manage and 
maintain breeding animals in dry conditions. The ministry successfully advocated to extend the 
application deadline and expanded eligibility conditions to more agricultural areas than in the 
initial intake. Eighty per cent of applications were processed through automated approval criteria 
in order to compensate producers faster. 

Alberta was Canada's largest honey producer in 2023, with 302,900 colonies or 38.1 per cent of 
Canada's hives. Alberta also relies on bees as essential pollinators. Alberta beekeepers experienced 
another year of high beehive overwintering losses and drought coupled with wildfires and pests 
during the winter of 2023. Pests such as varroa mites affect adult longevity, brood production and 
honey production, and cause colonies to die. In winter 2022, only 15 commercial beekeepers had 
insured 8,627 hives for overwintering hive losses, while 40 per cent of commercial beekeepers who 
chose not to take insurance, experienced close to 50 per cent hive losses. These historic loss levels 
triggered the 2022 Canada-Alberta Colony replacement Assistance Initiative. This 
AgriRecovery response was completed in January 2024, enabling 68 applicants to put $3.3 million 
towards restocking hives, colonies, bee packages and queen bees. 

As a cost-shared federal-provincial program, AgriRecovery availability is subject to many factors, so 
the ministry put additional effort into effective promotion and awareness of insurance availability 
and coverage to reduce future potential need for AgriRecovery. This work contributed to 20 
beekeepers taking up overwintering loss insurance in 2023 to manage risks of stock replacement 
and income loss compared to 15 in the previous year. 

The ministry achieved coverage improvements for wildfire damage, crop insurance and income 
stabilization options, and support for cattle and beef processing beyond immediate drought 
recovery. A review of Livestock Price Insurance (LPI) premium volatility across all cattle products 
was completed to increase premium stability. LPI participation increased by 53 per cent in 2023-24 
compared to 2022-23 providing 1,028 cattle and hog producers financial stability with coverage 
options that meet individual risks to reduce price risk against unpredictable and volatile markets in 
the face of rising input costs. Calf program participation increased 183 per cent compared to the 
previous year, and a total 222,554 calves, feeder and fed cattle were insured in 2023. AFSC 
continued to support maritime cattle producers access to LPI, which raised Alberta’s influence and 
negotiating power when advocating for changes with federal-provincial-territorial partners to 
benefit Albertans. Other AFSC program improvements included: 

• Faster client payouts:  taking steps to hire and retain more adjusters and change 
policies to allow client or third party drones for wildlife damage inspections (of over 
215,000 acres) which provided minimal disruption to harvest. Increased advance 
payments so that producers can receive up to 100 per cent of their claims upon filing a 
year-end report. Approximately 30 per cent of claims were fully paid without requiring 
a human inspector, and nearly 85 per cent of clients were eligible for a cash advance 
against their claim with an inspection done later. 

• Consulting with clients on their greatest risks:  added accidental fire as a cause of 
loss to products that did not have this coverage in the past. In 2024, clients who 
participate in annual multi-peril insurance, processing vegetable, honey production and 
hay insurance types will benefit from this change which adds to coverage for fire caused 
by lightning. 

• Increasing the AgriStability compensation rate from 70 per cent to 80 per cent 
coverage. This means if a farm’s production margin (net income) in a current year falls 
below a historical reference margin by more than 30 per cent, due to any combination 
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of production loss, adverse market conditions or increased costs, the producer receives 
80 cents for every dollar of decline below the threshold. Additional AgriStability 
improvements are summarized under Key Objective 2.5. 

Young producers and startups were also encouraged to take advantage of Alberta’s favourable 
climate for hemp production through New Crop Insurance, which protects new and non-
traditional crops like hemp, poppy and mint not otherwise insurable through other AFSC products. 
Hemp producers are eligible for AgriStability and AgriInvest. In 2023, 10,460 acres of hemp seed 
were insured with $10 million coverage, the highest annual production insurance coverage since it 
was first offered in 2015. 

Total insurance claims increased from 10,700 in 2022 to 11,500 in 2023, and compensation to 
producers increased from $1.3 billion in 2022 to $1.9 billion in 2023. Overall, participating 
producers received more benefits than they paid in premiums. in part due to improved assessments 
of the fair value of disaster-driven impacts, and prompt claim payments. In 2023 Alberta’s total 
farm cash receipts reached $23.3 billion, the highest in Canada. 

2.3 Develop and implement a competitive agri-food and value-added processing and 
manufacturing program that will make Alberta more competitive with competing 
jurisdictions. 

Global competition for agri-processing investment is growing. To help Alberta maintain its edge and 
meet the challenge, the ministry introduced the Agri-Processing Investment Tax Credit (APITC) 
in 2023. 

The APITC Program offers a 12 per cent non-refundable capital investment tax credit for 
corporations investing $10 million or more to build new or expand existing agri-processing 
facilities in Alberta. The program helps the province compete for investment by building on our 
other advantages, including low corporate taxes, targeted grant programs and abundant, high 
quality, agricultural inputs. 

Eleven corporations applied to the APITC program in 2023-24 and six conditional approval letters 
were issued. The Little Potato Company was among the first to receive conditional approval for a 
new $39.5 million facility in Nisku to double its processing capacity and has subsequently been 
announced as the first recipient of APITC. This successful company is eligible for up to $1.3 million 
in tax credits against its Alberta corporate taxes redeemable over a 10-year period. Complementary 
Sustainable CAP programming designed to help individual agri-processing companies to expand 
their operations, create jobs and grow Alberta’s economy include: 

• Emerging Opportunities Program: up to $2 million for innovative projects anticipated 
to result in significant company growth and sector impact. 

• Value-added Program: up to $0.25 million to increase sales, production capacity and 
expand market opportunities.  

• On-Farm Value-Added Program: up to $0.25 million to grow sales, expand production 
capacity and explore market opportunities. 

2.4 Optimize utilization of the Agri-Value Processing Business Incubator to support growth 
and diversification in the agri-food sector. 

Facilities, services and expert advice at the Agri-Value Processing Business Incubator (APBI) 
support food companies looking to expand domestically or internationally. The multi-tenant, 
federally licensed facility in Leduc is 100,000 square feet (with the 25,000 square foot expansion 
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done in 2023) facility to support new food processors to scale up and commercialize new products 
and technologies. Renovations required $26.9 million, $0.96 million of which was spent in 2023-24, 
allowing up to nine businesses to lease food processing suites compared to seven pre-renovation. 
Tenant businesses are encouraged to grow using these facilities until they can invest in facilities 
and transition to standalone operations. APBI graduates have in the past invested more than $80 
million in facilities and equipment in Alberta and are forecasted to invest $50 million more before 
2028. 

In 2023-24, there were five occupied suites, one vacant and two in the final construction stages, and 
wet fractionation plant protein extraction equipment is being added to the ninth suite. Tenants can 
achieve target sales volumes of proteins, starches and fibres processed from crops such as pulses 
using the wet fractionation equipment. To date, six companies have expressed interest in accessing 
the fractionation equipment.  

To increase future technical capabilities at specialized facilities including the APBI, the ministry 
secured two capital grants totaling $1.4 million from PrairiesCan and Alberta Innovates. Over the 
next two years, the new equipment will enhance existing expertise and unique facilities to help 
clients with biomaterials, natural health products, plant proteins, and other innovations. 

2.5 Continue to streamline processes and unnecessary oversight to improve service 
delivery, enhance competitiveness and support business growth. 

The ministry continued to review intake policies, processes and practices, and other ways to make 
government services more competitive with other jurisdictions. Streamlined processes, particularly 
to increase the competitiveness of small businesses disproportionately affected by regulatory 
compliance requirements, included: 

• Minister delegating routine grant programs to the department to improve grant 
application processing timelines since many projects cannot be undertaken unless grant 
funding is secured in advance. This change assisted more applicants to take timely 
action to improve agricultural operations and business prospects. 

• Amendments to the Investing in a Diversified Economy Act and Regulation to make it 
easier for partnerships to apply for the Agri-processing Investment Tax Credit. 

• The Lloydminster food trade pilot helped 15 businesses improve their market access 
to provide high-quality, safe food from trusted producers to consumers. The pilot 
resulted in the currently underway process to amend the federal Safe Food for 
Canadians Regulation to exclude Lloydminster from unnecessary interprovincial trade 
clauses and improve future trade opportunities. 

Training and tools to improve governance of agriculture-focused organizations involved advice 
related to election irregularities and director removal and improving strategic and succession 
plans. Improvements to governance and operations of 19 agricultural marketing boards and 
commissions (MBCs) continued by transferring some regulations to bylaws. Amalgamating two 
MBCs required bylaws and a regulatory framework for the new Alberta Grains Commission, 
resulting in an estimated $400,000 in annual savings, and anticipated cost savings and efficiency 
gains. This work helps MBCs remain competitive, relevant, and adaptive to evolving global markets. 

About $8.1 million was spent in 2023-24 to replace insurance platforms and associated systems 
to make online 24/7 access to AFSC services and resources more secure, reliable and user-friendly. 
These technological changes are expected to continue until 2026-27, enabling AFSC client access to 
real-time updates about application statuses and reducing operating costs. 
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In 2023, about 6,000 Alberta producers participated in AgriStability that will see three changes 
finalized for implementation in the 2025 program year: 

• Offering producers a choice of cash or accrual reference margins, which will likely 
increase enrollment without the need for prior historical reporting, and increase 
participation rates with less need for costly accounting services. 

• Moving deadlines forward to June 30 that may allow participants to receive benefits 
sooner. 

• Issuing coverage notices that may improve producer understanding and ability to 
compare programs and options. 

The above AgriStability changes are expected to result in a more simple, predictable, transparent 
and timely program, especially for operations with less than $250,000 annual revenue.  In addition, 
AFSC has launched a pilot to explore options to make AgriStability responsive to the cow/calf and 
hog industries.  Pilot results will be reviewed to determine if improved AgriStability participation 
would reduce the need for disaster recovery initiatives such as AgriRecovery. Results may be used 
to gather support from federal-provincial-territorial partners to make necessary changes to 
AgriStability. 
Communication about Policies and Processes to Increase Access to programs by Albertans 
In Year One of the Sustainable Canadian Agricultural Partnership (Sustainable CAP) agreement, 
programming continuity was a priority. Therefore, most programs from the Canadian Agricultural 
Partnership transitioned with minimal changes. Feedback received during engagements in 2023 
helped streamline processes in April 2024. New Resilient Agricultural Landscape Program 
(RALP) and Public Trust and Resiliency programs received strong interest due to communication 
priorities to make eligibility criteria and application mechanisms easy and transparent. Areas of 
improvement to keep potential, eligible and successful applicants informed about changes, program 
launches and criteria included: 

• Technical improvements to process grant applications for multiple parcels of land on 
one application. In previous years, the ministry could only process one parcel per 
application. 

• Sustainable CAP website moved to a Government of Alberta website for continuity with 
other Alberta programs. Program manager or 310-FARM contacts are included online, 
during one-on-one interactions and outreach activities. Eight hundred email subscribers 
received direct communications about program updates. 

• Two contracts until 2028 worth $2 million supported outreach and specialized grant 
assistance, including one-on-one support for the RALP. The longer term outcomes are to 
promote awareness and accelerate the adoption of beneficial management practices. 

Widespread wildfires caused emergency declarations and evacuation orders during 2023, affecting 
more than 200,000 livestock and 500,000 poultry, and their producers in 35 municipalities, Metis 
Settlements, and First Nations. The ministry’s agricultural advice and expertise to support 
producers with evacuation zones and closed roads resulted in few reports of deceased animals due 
to fires. A new fire emergency preparedness guide is being developed, and cross-ministry work is 
ongoing to enhance fire prevention information for producers. 
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Performance Measure 2.a: Percentage of eligible seeded acres for major crop categories 
insured under Production Insurance.  

Crops Under 
Production Insurance 

Prior Years’ Results 2023 
Targets 

2023 
Results 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

Annual Crops 71% 73% 71% 81% 82% 82% 82% 

Perennial Crops 28% 29% 29% 35% 35% 31% 35% 

Source: Statistics Canada; Agriculture Financial Services Corporation (AFSC)  
 

Description: AFSC provides insurance products to offset the risks of agriculture production that 
are beyond producers control. Production Insurance, known as AgriInsurance is designed to help 
agricultural producers when negatively impactful natural and market events that are beyond their 
control occur.  

Rationale: In the event of a downturn, AgriInsurance shortens producers’ recovery time and hence 
allow the viability of successful farm operations while providing a stable platform for the industry 
as a whole to achieve its full economic potential.  

Results and Variance Explanation: In 2023, 17.7 million out of the estimated 21.4 million annual 
crop seeded acres were insured, an 82 per cent uptake, and 8.5 million out of the estimated 24.2 
million perennial crop seeded acres for perennial crops in Alberta, a 35 per cent uptake. These 
results are most likely due to producers’ reduced ability to self-insure due to dry conditions 
continuing for a third consecutive year, financial decisions about insurance product options, high 
input costs, fluctuations in commodity prices, concerns about upcoming dry conditions, AFSC client 
experience improvements, and increased producer awareness of AFSC insurance products. 

Outcome Three: Robust assurance systems and effective resource management 
practices support agriculture sector success and protect public safety in communities 
across Alberta  
Key Objectives 

3.1 Deliver programs and services to support primary producers to improve 
environmental sustainability on their operations. 

The ministry improved the materials for Environmental Farm Plans (EFPs) to make them more 
relevant to more producers with current disease, pest management, emergency planning, and other 
farm production concerns. The ministry also collaborated with partners such as the Agricultural 
Research and Extension Council of Alberta, to deliver resource management programming to help 
producers. In 2023-24, 659 EFPs were completed compared to 443 in 2022-23, indicating greater 
awareness among producers about environmental assessment tools, and that EFPs are 
prerequisites for Sustainable Canadian Agricultural Partnership (Sustainable CAP) Efficient Grain 
Handling, Farm Technology and Resilient Agricultural Landscape Program (RALP) grants. In 2023-
24, 51 EFP producer workshops were held across Alberta, which were attended by 254 producers. 
33 EFP technician training sessions were attended by 102 technicians, compared to 24 sessions 
attended by 51 technicians in 2022-23. Increased awareness among producers and technicians in 
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2023 24 about the EFP completion process may generate awareness about environmental risks and 
potential improvements to agricultural operations and stewardship of Alberta’s natural resources. 

During the 2022 calendar year (latest available data), Agriculture Service Boards (ASBs) had 
2,385 one-on-one consultations with producers, covering topics such as EFPs, Canadian Agriculture 
Partnership programs, and other environmental topics. ASBs fulfilled the ministry’s aim to raise 
awareness about environmentally sustainable beneficial management practices (BMPs) and 
promoted Sustainable CAP programs to increase the adoption of BMPs.  

Also in 2022, agricultural fieldmen employed by ASBs completed inspection of 10,321 fields for soil 
erosion, resolved 244 soil erosion issues and helped producers learn how to manage topsoil that is 
vital for crop production. To prepare producers across different soil and climatic zones for 
productive spring seeding, the ministry prepared information about the Soil Conservation Act and 
provided expertise about soil sampling, fertility and how to incorporate use of the Alberta Farm 
Fertilizer Information and Recommendation Manager. Updates on soil health and quality 
management, legislation, research, data and online tools were presented at the spring 2024 
Agricultural Service Board conference in Lethbridge.  

Additional work on long-term, comprehensive policies and frameworks to improve 
environmentally sustainable practices included: 

• Agricultural Plastics Recycling Pilot: examines plastic management options that may 
increase the quantity recycled and build a circular agricultural plastics economy. Eleven 
new collection sites were added across Alberta for a total of 159 sites, which applied 
$0.4 million to divert more than 832 tonnes of waste such as grain bags and twine 
during 2023-24 from landfills. The ministry relies on the cumulative progress of the 
pilot since 2020 to collaborate effectively with partners towards affordable and 
sustainable long-term solutions for agricultural plastic waste. 

• Contributed to the development and release of Canada’s first National Index on Agri-
Food Performance and the associated Centre for Agri-Food Benchmarking. This 
intends to build Canada’s food system on sustainability, environment, economic, food 
integrity and societal well-being principles, measured through 20 indicators and 130 
metrics. The policies, recommendations, standards and processes being developed will 
serve public interests by shaping sustainable agricultural and agri-food systems. 

• Monitored and reported on agricultural land use to address environmental impacts and 
update regional land use plans that identify and set resource and environmental 
management goals. Regional forage production forecasts were used to estimate forage 
shortfalls in times of poor growth such as in 2023. Approximately 47,000 producers and 
agriculture stakeholders had access to 4,000 maps and 28 moisture updates in 2023-24. 
These processes and tools enabled producer decisions about irrigation management, 
crop and pasture insurance programs, and may increase interest in research to mitigate 
dry growing conditions. 

• Grants approved through the Sustainable CAP framework increased grant funding by 
12.5 per cent compared to the previous five-year framework for greenhouse gas 
emissions reductions and agricultural waste. Funded projects included investments 
in precision nutrient application and modifying farm machinery and equipment for 
energy efficiency or to be powered by renewable energy sources. Precision agriculture 
uses fine monitoring, control and treatment of animals and crops to improve 
productivity and reduce waste. The Efficient Grain Handling program reduces natural 
gas costs to operate grain dryers while reducing greenhouse gas emissions. The Farm 

https://www.alberta.ca/soil-health-management-resources#:%7E:text=The%20Soil%20Conservation%20Act%20and%2cproductivity%20of%20the%20farming%20sector.
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Technology program incentivizes use of digital systems and data to improve farm 
performance and operations. The RALP reimburses up to 100 per cent of eligible 
expenses to restore or maintain agricultural lands over a three-year term, with a focus 
on greenhouse gas management and enhanced climate resilience. 

Facilitated Improvements in Agricultural Water Use (also see Key Objectives 3.3 and 1.3) 

Effective and judicious use of water continues to be a focus of sustainable agriculture in Alberta 
towards which Sustainable CAP invested $2.7 million across 356 grants to improve water-use 
efficiency and energy use for the On-farm Irrigation grant. Replacements or irrigation system 
upgrades to modern electronic control panels, variable-rate irrigation technologies, high-efficiency 
sprinkler nozzles, and drip irrigation were eligible. Other funded upgrades included replacement of 
older gravity, side-wheel, or high-pressure centre pivot irrigation systems with new, low-pressure 
center pivot systems.  

The On-farm Water Supply grant improved water supply security through wells, dugouts, spring 
developments, dams, unshared pipelines and connections to multi-user water supplies. In 2023, 
challenging dry conditions and increased agri-business and construction costs resulted in increased 
interest in the On-farm Water Supply grant stream, but a decreased number (195) of new water 
source development projects were supported in 2023-24 compared to 283 in the final year of the 
previous CAP framework (2022-23). This support resulted in 161 new water source developments, 
with the majority being new wells (133 wells, 10 cisterns, eight dugouts, six tie-ins and four 
unshared pipelines). The program also supported 31 well decommissioning and well pit removals 
to protect water resources. These are important results since gradual improvements in water 
supply management and new water source developments have long-term benefits to agricultural 
users and all Albertans. 

The two Sustainable CAP On-Farm Water Programs benefited more than 49,421 acres and led to 
water savings of about 5.6 million cubic meters and energy savings of about 0.99 million kilowatt 
hours per year. The effect of this funding stream was to obtain $9.60 for every $1 Alberta 
contributed, a high-level leverage of shared funding. Challenging on-farm conditions, increased 
costs of irrigation equipment, and high interest rates contributed to the 15 per cent decrease in 
uptake compared to the five-year average. Increasing complexity of irrigation decisions contributed 
to an overall slowdown of producer-driven on-farm irrigation equipment improvements. To 
improve on these results, the ministry will continue targeted investments in irrigation 
infrastructure to increase water conveyance efficiency. The ministry will also seek ways to optimize 
producer participation in insurance types that can offset significant decreases in water availability. 

3.2 Implement programs to mitigate risks to food safety, animal, crop and human health.  

Cooperative work with governments and industry continued to establish and maintain effective 
warning and mitigation processes and standards to detect, prevent or respond to events that can 
impact consumer confidence domestically and internationally in food safety, farmed animal health 
and welfare, and crop health. 

Safe Food Provision and Industry Compliance 

All provincially licensed abattoir facilities for poultry and red meat require animal slaughter 
inspections that address food safety risk factors related to adequate hand washing, personnel 
hygiene practices, protection from contamination, slaughter equipment maintenance, and facility 
sanitation practices. As some operators retire and transition out of the business, additional time 
was spent on best practices and recommendations for 21 new abattoir, mobile butcher and dairy 
pasteurizer license applicants. These engagements are anticipated to increase future inspection 
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effectiveness. In 2023, 4.2 million animals were subject to inspected slaughter that maintained and 
improved food safety culture compared to 4.4 million in 2022. 

Spending of $7.8 million on meat and dairy inspection and oversight actions contributed to a 
highly successful result in which fewer than one per cent of licensed abattoirs required corrective 
action reports for minor non-compliance, similar to 2022. Consistently low rates of notable findings 
suggest on-site inspection processes are achieving the goal of reduced food safety risk for 
Albertans. Tracking, follow-up and communication about minor correctable slaughter practices and 
operational procedures will continue to be important to prevent repeated, low-risk food safety 
incidences. 

The ministry provided customized lab services that build Alberta’s reputation as a consistent and 
reliable bee and honey supplier through 15,095 tests of honey products. About 4,000 more tests 
were completed than in the previous year due to high honey production and increased demand 
from customers for specific tests. The ministry will continue to provide testing services and 
expertise at the only provincial laboratory in Canada accredited to conduct honey testing to support 
regulatory requirements and consumer preferences for low pesticide and antibiotic residues. 

Enhanced Producers’ Capabilities in Animal Health 

Complementing an effective food safety inspection system, the ministry carried out internationally 
recognized sample testing, surveillance, disease response, emergency planning and exercises, and 
continued progress on livestock traceability. In 2023-24, 22,924 lab tests supported farmed 
animal health surveillance programs, disease investigations, and outbreak response. Support for 
producers and industry to make informed decisions about their animals included: 

• Foot and Mouth Disease (FMD) vaccine bank: contributed to national strategy and 
vaccine bank development to enhance current industry preparedness plans. Vaccination 
of cattle, swine, sheep, goats and other cloven-hoofed animals would reduce severity 
and duration of FMD outbreaks in livestock dense areas, and improve market recovery 
and public confidence in a robust assurance system. 

• Aligning Alberta’s disease monitoring and surveillance strategies and approaches 
through national and international forums on cohesive action plans for animal disease 
surveillance, emergency response, and antimicrobial drug use that support government 
and industry resilience. AGI also contributed to surveillance initiatives like the Canadian 
Animal Health Surveillance System and CanSpotASF. Industry estimates an ASF 
outbreak would cost Alberta pork exporters about $380 million. 

• Providing $1.2 million capital grant and a one-time $2.26 million Sustainable CAP grant 
to increase laboratory testing capabilities at the University of Calgary Faculty of 
Veterinary Medicine.  Local diagnostics capacity increases support to producers and 
veterinarians and enables rapid detections and response to emerging threats.  
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Highly effective detection and response controlled the spread 
of 82 cases of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (avian flu) 
between April 2022 and March 2024. The first avian flu case 
was detected following spring wild bird migration in April 
2022. This virus poses significant risk to farmed poultry, 
causing large numbers to die in a short time after introduction 
into a flock. Support for poultry producers included rapid 
laboratory testing, carcass disposal, mapping and premises 
identification to reduce transmission risks and tracing. Most of 
the cases of avian flu were single-point introductions from wild 
birds or the environment. Producers had confidence in and had 
high compliance with the ministry’s guidance to prevent 
disease spread between farms. Ministry guidance helped the 
poultry industry expand capacity for humane destruction of 
infected flocks, analyze risks associated with poultry shows 
and exhibitions, and alerted small flock producers throughout 
the outbreak. 

The Alberta Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals (AB SPCA) was provided $1.25 
million to carry out animal protection investigations and compliance under the Animal Protection 
Act. A total of 2,500 files were opened, an increase of 400 files compared to the previous year. 
Wildfire and drought risks posed additional threats to animal welfare through reduced feed 
supplies and access to water. AB SPCA peace officers conducted livestock welfare education, 
enforcement and engagement through surveys and distributed materials to industry organizations, 
abattoirs, auctions markets, individual producers and students. By encouraging regulatory 
awareness and consistent participation, the ministry is positioning the livestock industry to 
continually improve animal welfare and reduce animal distress throughout the province. 

Through 18 engagements, communication opportunities and training activities, the ministry 
enabled increased agriculture sector awareness of information and resources to comply with the 
Agriculture Operation Practices Act. This legislation supports responsible practices on livestock 
operations across Alberta, such as permitting confined feeding operations, limiting nuisances, 
odors, dust and noise, and ensuring industry can grow to meet opportunities. 

Crop Health Assurance 

The ministry provides diagnostic services and conducted surveillance of plant diseases and crop 
pests, including insects and weeds. A total of $4.1 million was committed in 2023-24 to update 
producers across the province about potential threats to crops and provide services and supports 
in a framework for effective risk management activities. Use of the right type and amount of 
treatment, combined with crop variety improvements, support profitability and environmental 
sustainability. Left unchecked, pests, diseases and weeds can spread to cause serious and long-term 
damage, rendering some crops uneconomical to grow. 

The Alberta Insect Pest Monitoring Network provides timely, accurate insect management 
resources in support of crop quality. In 2023, the ministry monitored nine key insect pests across 
3,261 unique sites, provided forecasting and updates on pests with significant economic 
consequences. These updates supported regulatory advocacy for pest control substances, and are 
made available to crop producers, industry associations and municipalities to increase timely 
monitoring and pest control decisions. 

In 2023, Verticillium stripe was detected in the provincial canola disease survey, a soil-borne 
disease carried by wind, water and boots from field to field with few management options. Nine 

 In 2023, only 20 farms were 
affected by avian flu and 
approximately 400,000 birds  
were depopulated, a 73 per cent 
decrease compared to 2022. This 
result was achieved due to prompt 
ministry communications about 
biocontainment standards, poultry 
producer compliance, and 
possible reduction in virus levels 
in wild bird populations. 
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crop surveys evaluated 40 diseases in canola, wheat, barley, alfalfa, and pulses, profiling how and 
where the diseases are evolving, and enabled communications with industry and the agricultural 
community to support research, and producer and industry adaptation. Producer awareness and 
monitoring for diseases may prevent economic losses. Ministry work included crop risk profiles, 
evaluating management options, and tracking strategies. Disease monitoring included: 

• Blackleg, clubroot and Sclerotinia place increasing pressures on the economics of 
canola, with few control options and fungicide insensitivity presenting high economic 
risks. The potential economic impact of these crop diseases is substantial, with canola 
seed (5.4 million tonnes) being the second largest crop produced in Alberta after wheat, 
and canola products amounting to $4.5 billion in agricultural exports in 2023.  

• Bacterial leaf streak and wheat streak mosaic virus in cereal crops that do not have in-
season management tools and cause up to 50 per cent yield loss. 

• Aphanomyces root rot monitoring in pulses will increase understanding of the 
distribution and prevalence of the disease in Alberta and the length of rotation required 
to reduce risk. 

The Alberta Plant Health Lab (APHL) provided crop diagnostics support to Alberta’s crop and bee 
industry. The APHL processes samples from rural and urban sources, the ministry, and from 
federal-provincial-territorial and industry collaborators. To prepare measures that increase the 
vitality of Alberta’s crops, the APHL developed diagnostics tools for new or emerging diseases, 
leading Canada’s development and diagnostic activity for bacterial leaf streak, and co-detection of 
canola Verticillium wilt and blackleg. This co-detection tool is important in Alberta, where the 
diseases commonly co-exist with similar symptoms, but have different treatments and outcomes. 

The ministry also tackled crop risks by encouraging proactive contributions from ASBs. Through 
$8.4 million in provincial grant funding leveraged to a total $102.5 million, 69 ASBs supported crop 
health on over 49 million acres of farmland to handle agricultural pests, weeds and soil erosion in 
2022 (latest available data). ASBs’ contribution in providing local support for ministry 
implementation and enforcement of the Agricultural Service Board Act, Weed Control Act, 
Agricultural Pests Act, Soil Conservation Act, and control of animal disease under the Animal Health 
Act is vital. 

Control and Mitigation of Invasive Species 

Well-established collaborative frameworks with industry, governments, agricultural fieldmen and 
producers fulfilled prevention and detection of pest, weed and invasive species in Alberta’s soil, 
crops, forages and waters. This framework was effective even as the number of federally permitted 
pest control substances were reduced. In 2023-24, an additional $3 million commitment increased 
agricultural fieldmen ability to carry out evaluations such as pest management control effectiveness 
on Richardson’s Ground Squirrels, and: 

• The Provincial Coyote Predation Program continued work as directed by Health 
Canada to ensure Compound 1080 is an effective means of coyote control. 

• Monitored and responded to reports of wild boar at-large through the Wild Boar 
Control Program. During 2023-24, the ministry received 112 reports of wild boar at-
large. In collaboration with Alberta Pork trappers, 20 sounders (83 wild boar at large) 
were removed. Since 2018, 66 sounders (a total of 410 wild boar at large) have been 
removed through this collaboration. Building on this success, Alberta is leading the 
implementation and evaluation of Canada’s Invasive Wild Pig Strategy (2022-2032), 
which works towards elimination - the best way to protect Alberta’s livestock against 
foreign animal diseases and support human health. 
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The latest update from 2023, during which time $11.9 million was spent on ASBs, is expected to 
maintain the positive outcomes from 2022 that included support for crop growth on farmer fields 
through the roadside weed survey. The survey covered 11,500 kilometres of roads across central 
and southern Alberta. Eighty per cent of municipalities’ weed burden reports were within the 
expected range, due in large part to vigilant surveillance, education and consistent weed 
eradication. ASBs eradicated regulated weeds on 116,348 kilometres of municipal roadways and 
inspected and licensed 89 stationary and mobile seed cleaning plants to remove weed seeds and 
other contaminants. Agricultural fieldmen also investigated and followed up on 75,731 prohibited 
noxious weeds and weed sites and worked with the ministry to share expertise on invasive grasses 
with 250 participants through the Alberta Invasive Species Council. 

3.3 Effectively work to mitigate the adverse effects of flood and drought, and manage water 
supply through government owned or operated water management and monitoring 
infrastructure. 

Managing Water Availability 

Effective measures were taken to support producers through 2023 drought conditions across 
much of the province, and areas of the province that have experienced multiple consecutive years of 
drought. These included streamlining approvals for livestock water access and ensuring policy 
decisions balance long-term agricultural soil sustainability with the economic needs of crop and 
livestock industries and other water users. The Emergency Water Pumping Program fielded 333 
calls (100 more than the previous year) and fulfilled 298 government equipment rental requests 
(86 more than the previous year). 

Agricultural water specialists were contacted 202 times for advice and recommendations on 
constructing new dugouts, or protecting or improving water quality in existing dugouts, more than 
double of the previous dry year. Forty-one producers completed approved dugout construction 
plans in 2023-24 compared to 21 in 2022-23, indicating the increasing relevance of ministry 
services, expertise and programs to industry in complex and uncertain growing conditions. 

The ministry continued to update agrologists, producers, grazing disposition holders and other land 
and water users with water management recommendations. The ministry engaged with 
governments, non-profits, agricultural fieldmen and industry organizations to transfer information 
about soil moisture, farmland recovery from historic droughts, and best management practices to 
lessen pressures on water users. Long-term preparation for extreme weather challenges included: 

• Knowledge sharing with the Bow River Working Group members and land and water 
users enhanced communities ability to withstand future flooding or droughts, and 
promoted the ongoing stewardship and preservation of Alberta's watersheds. 

• Collaboration with municipalities and non-profit organizations to increase watershed 
resiliency increased the province’s ability to reduce the intensity, magnitude, duration, 
and effects of flooding and drought. The ministry also worked with Alberta North 
American Waterfowl Management Plan Partnership to retain wetlands and associated 
habitats. 

• Updates to the Agriculture Drought and Excess Moisture Risk Management Plan 
provided a coordinated, proactive approach to reduce the short- and long-term effects 
of drought and excess moisture on Alberta farms and ranches.   

• Co-chaired the Drought and Excess Moisture Advisory Group (DEMAG) with Rural 
Municipalities of Alberta in six meetings to discuss agricultural producers’ issues. 
Agriculture Moisture Situation Updates were provided to DEMAG online throughout the 
year so producers could access precipitation levels and soil moisture reserves available 
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for the current and next crop season. The 28 updates were accessed 21 times in 2023-
24, indicating they helped producers prepare for risks in 2023 and upcoming years. 

The above examples summarize successful service delivery to meet rural and agricultural needs 
during 2023-24 as dry conditions and related impacts on producers’ operations escalated. The 
ministry brought together experts, governments, and communities to help producers, and 
continued to address factors in reliable water supply, including dam safety, discussed below. 

Ensuring Reliable Water Supply 

The ministry continues to address challenges for water supply and storage with water users and 
other partners, while providing unified and consistent water security programs and supports. With 
funding of about $200 million, the Snake Lake Reservoir expansion project will increase water 
storage by up to 67,000 acre feet. Approximately 140,000 irrigated acres are unsupported by the 
current reservoir or receive limited reservoir support. The Eastern Irrigation District (EID) will 
improve water security in the region by removing 36 per cent of the current river-supported acres 
to reservoir-supported acres. EID was close to its expansion limit of 311,000 acres with very few 
new acres available. The expansion will add 29,000 additional acres to the EID, and the Snake Lake 
Reservoir will add an additional 5,000 acres for a total of 34,000 irrigated acres that did not 
previously exist in the region to grow more crops without impacting non-agricultural water use. 

Most new large-scale water conveyance and storage projects are funded after feasibility studies 
are completed to ensure future investments will increase resiliency and reliability of water supply. 
This work includes engineering investigations, conceptual designs, cost-benefit analyses, 
stakeholder consultations, scoping and initial preparation to meet regulatory requirements. 
Feasibility studies underway include $5 million in federal, irrigation district and Alberta cost-
shared funding committed to the Eyremore Dam, and $7 million in cost-shared funding committed 
to examining the potential of large scale irrigation in east-central Alberta to determine if steps can 
be taken for planning and construction. Upcoming feasibility studies will examine the potential of 
expanding or upgrading existing water storage systems in and around southern Alberta. 

The ministry received steady interest in irrigation demand modelling services to support predictive 
work led by the Environment and Protected Areas’ Drought Command Team, complementing 
work on the Irrigation District Water Quality Program. Water quality evaluations inform water 
users of current conditions and enable improvements to a limited supply of water, working in 
partnership with irrigation districts (IDs) and the Alberta Irrigation Districts Association. 

Approximately 450,000 Albertans rely on privately owned wells for household needs, and 
thousands of new wells are drilled each year. The responsibility of well maintenance, testing, and 
local source water protection lies with the private well owner. The Working Well Program was 
delivered to 498 participants in 24 communities across Alberta to help private well owners access 
and maintain safe, secure drinking water supplies. The ministry worked with partners to deliver 24 
Working Well in-person and virtual workshops (compared to 21 workshops in the previous year) 
and participated on the Working Well Steering Committee and technical committee to ensure 
workshop materials and resources remain relevant and accurate for target audiences. 

Addressed Dam Safety and Efficiency Issues 

The Dam Safety Regulator (the Regulator) develops policies and frameworks for dam safety and 
efficiency, serves as a technical specialist for Water Act approvals and to resolve dam safety 
emergencies, and ensures compliance from non-energy related dam and canal owners. The 
Regulator manages safety, efficient operations, surveillance, and emergency preparedness 
standards across all dam owners, including government, municipalities, corporations, and private 
owners, through dam consequence classifications. 
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These consequence classifications are used to manage 
regulatory requirements, standards, and best practices over 
the life cycle of water infrastructure, including operations, 
maintenance, surveillance, rehabilitation, safety, emergency 
management, and closure. During 2023, the Regulator 
accomplished three objectives to manage water supply: 

Education: built and maintained dam safety technical 
capacity and public awareness through map and webpage 
updates made available to all dam owners. Reviewed safety 
and compliance requirements with 176 dam owners during 
annual audit inspections, and shared professional knowledge 
with the Canadian Dam Association and other regulatory 
jurisdictions. 

Prevention: The Regulator worked with dam owners and professionals to apply best industry 
practices communicated through the Environment Infrastructure Management System (EIMS), 
which saw five technical improvements to enhance surveillance, monitoring, tracking, 
communication and user experiences. Twenty-nine individual users among eight dam owners in 
2023 used Dam Safety Portal interfaces in EIMS to monitor and track regulatory requirements, and 
report to the Regulator. Prevention activities also included: 

• Completed 25 dam safety reviews, 11 consequence classification assessments, seven 
annual performance reviews, and five risk assessments. These activities ensure dam 
owners are aware of how dams are performing through regular assessments and 
evaluations.  

• Reviewed 41 new or updated emergency preparedness plans. These are required from 
dam owners of significant and higher consequence classification dams. 

• Reviewed  19 Water Act and Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act approval 
applications and provided recommendations and requirements for managing risk for 
new and existing dams. 

Enforcement: improved collaboration and follow-ups to achieve dam owner accountability for 
safety deficiencies without requiring the Regulator to compel compliance under the Environment 
and Parks Regulatory Assurance Program. This service delivery success used EIMS to record and 
track dam safety incidents, deficiencies, technical reviews, correspondence, and short-term 
requirements. The EIMS was a mechanism to improve relationships and consistency in service 
delivery. There are 50 dams with at least one dam safety deficiency. AGI Dam Safety is tracking 169 
dame safety deficiencies which includes  three critical dam safety deficiencies. The dams with 
outstanding safety deficiencies are in satisfactory condition, according to independent qualified 
professionals. AGI Dam Safety continues working with dam owners  to ensure deficiencies are 
addressed. 

The ministry handles more than 200 government-owned and operated water management 
infrastructure systems, such as dams, canals, weirs and water diversion headworks, including 33 
high to extreme consequence dams. Ensuring safety standards by government-owned 
infrastructure enabled delivery of a sustainable water supply, environmental protection, economic 
prosperity and public trust. In total, the ministry completed 1,150 inspections and 21 engineering 
contracts for government-owned infrastructure, including those for performance reviews, failure 
analyses and inundation studies. As of April 2024, the replacement value of the infrastructure is 
estimated at $10.9 billion, signifying the impact of the work described in Performance Measure 3.a. 

In 2023-24, $25.8 million in 
operating expenses was spent on 
water management infrastructure 
to enable continued supply of safe 
and secure water for 
municipalities and irrigated 
agriculture. Approximately $35.5 
million is allocated through 
Transportation and Economic 
Corridors for capital and other 
deficiency management in water 
infrastructure. 
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Performance Measure 3.a: Percentage of water management infrastructure in good, fair and 
poor status.  

 

Status 

Prior Years’ Results 2023-24 
 Target 

2023-24 
 Actual 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

Good 76.2% 78.0% 78.5% 78.8% 74.3% n/a 75.9% 

Fair 18.7% 17.7% 16.7% 16.1% 20.6% ≤20.0% 21.2% 

Poor 5.1% 4.3% 4.8% 5.1% 5.1% ≤5.0% 2.9% 

Source: Agriculture and Irrigation.  

Note: 
Good: Infrastructure requiring normal maintenance or operations, rated low or medium priority 
for rehabilitation and replacement. 
Fair: Infrastructure requiring above normal maintenance and/or modified operations, rated 
elevated priority for rehabilitation or replacement. 
Poor: Infrastructure requiring significantly above normal maintenance and/or significantly 
modified operations, rated high priority for rehabilitation or replacement with an action plan for 
implementation. 
 
Description: Agriculture and Irrigation maintains provincially owned water management 
infrastructure to contribute to management of water supply, water quality, and adverse impacts of 
flood and drought. Maintenance and rehabilitation met service levels and standards.  

Rationale: Consequences of infrastructure failure is factored into Good, Fair and Poor assessments 
to manage risks related to public safety, environmental impacts and economic losses. Service levels 
and standards for water management infrastructure were generally maintained during the 
assessment period.  

Results and Variance Explanation: The 75.9 per cent result for the Good category is higher than 
the 2022-23 result. The increase in percentage of infrastructure in Fair status relative to target and 
the 2022-23 result is due primarily to the recent inspection and upgrading/downgrading of the 
Dickson Dam Main Embankment from Good to Fair status. This asset has a replacement value of 
approximately $125 million. Moving this asset from Good to Fair status affected the relative 
percentage of assets in Good and Fair status. The 2.9 per cent of infrastructure in Poor status is just 
over half of the five per cent target, and a 2.2 per cent reduction compared to the 2022-23 result. 
The decrease was mainly due to Dickson Dam Spillway and Jensen Dam Flood Management system 
improvements that have a combined replacement value of $236 million, affecting the relative 
percentage of assets moving from Poor to Good status. The Poor status result, which is 2.1 per cent 
better than the Poor status target, reflects investments in capital maintenance, and ongoing 
assessment and rehabilitation across the full inventory of water management infrastructure in 
keeping with Canadian and international dam community guidelines.  
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Performance Measure and Indicator Methodology  
Performance Measure 1.a: Annual total value of investment in the primary and agri-
processing sectors facilitated through ministry investment initiatives, and the 
corresponding jobs created.  

Methodology: The result for this measure is the sum of industry-confirmed investments in 
Alberta’s agriculture and agri-food sector and the corresponding job creation enabled by 
Agriculture and Irrigation. 

“Investment” refers to the value of project investment undertaken by an industry client to either 
establish a new agriculture and agri-food facility or expand existing operations within the province. 
All funding sources are included in the reported investment, whether it is direct program grant 
from the ministry, other source of debt, equity or investment by a third party. A project investment 
is considered confirmed upon a final investment decision by company ownership. Investments 
related to ministry grant programs are considered confirmed upon submission of a final report. 
Investments related to the APITC program are considered confirmed upon receipt of the proposed 
project investment plan from the industry client and the issuance of the conditional approval letter 
to that company from the ministry. 

“Job creation” is the number of new, permanent full-time and part-time jobs related to an 
investment that did not exist before the ministry provided assistance, excluding construction, 
temporary or contract positions. Job creation represents total creation, including jobs that have 
been created and the expected job growth once the investment projects are completed. 

Each industry client is asked to provide a written confirmation to verify the value of project 
investments enabled with the assistance from the ministry and the associated job creation when 
the investment project is confirmed. The total confirmed values of project investments and the 
corresponding job creation are aggregated and reported for this measure. 

The reported result was collated from data supplied by ministry program areas involved in 
agriculture value-added product development, investment attraction, and market development 
services and related grant and incentive programs. 

Source: Agriculture and Irrigation 

Performance Measure 1.b:  Percentage of irrigated agriculture area under efficient irrigation 
systems within Alberta’s eleven irrigation districts. 

Methodology: The result for this measure is derived by dividing the area under efficient on-farm 
irrigation systems within the 11 irrigation districts (IDs) by the base total of irrigated agriculture 
area within the 11 IDs. The result is expressed as a percentage. An ID is the geographical area 
consisting of the parcels of land included in the district. There are currently 11 IDs in Alberta that 
operate under the authority of the Irrigation Districts Act. In April 2023, the Aetna and Leavitt IDs 
amalgamated to form the Southwest ID. 

Efficient on-farm irrigation systems are water application systems that enable the delivery of water 
to the root zone of the crop with minimum water loss in relation to the water applied to the field. 
Examples include low-pressure centre-pivot irrigation systems and sub-surface drip irrigation.  
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Water application losses include evaporation from the air, soil surface, and plant leaf area; seepage 
from surface water channels or furrows; leaks from sprinkler systems or drip pipelines; percolation 
and deep drainage beneath the root zone; drift from sprinklers; or runoff from the field.  

Each year during the irrigation season (May to October), staff from each ID complete an annual 
inventory assessment of the type of irrigation technologies and infrastructure systems that are used 
on all agriculture fields in their respective geographical area, including irrigated area in acres, and 
type of on-farm irrigation methods used and the corresponding irrigated area in acres. 

Each ID provides data on irrigation use to Agriculture and Irrigation. The data is reviewed for 
accuracy, compiled and reported under this metric and in Alberta Irrigation Information 2022. The 
measure represents the irrigation system types within the 11 IDs, which make up more than 80 per 
cent of the provincial irrigated land base. Irrigation inventory data for private irrigation schemes is 
not reported under this measure. 

Source: Irrigation Districts and Agriculture and Irrigation 

Performance Measure 1.c:  Value of Alberta’s primary agriculture commodities and value-
added agriculture products exports. ($ in millions) 

Methodology: The results for this performance measure are derived from the monetary value of 
Alberta’s agri-food products leaving the province through customs for a foreign destination market. 
This measure reports the total value of Alberta’s agri-food exports categorized into primary 
agriculture commodities and value-added products. 

Agri-food exports refer to domestic exports, which exclude re-exports and include primary 
agriculture commodities and value-added agriculture products. Primary agriculture commodities 
refer to all crops grown and livestock raised in Alberta that have not been materially transformed. 
Value-added agriculture products refer to processed crops and livestock products under broad 
groupings of food, beverages, animal feed, and inedible crude animal and plant products. 

The ministry purchases export statistics on agri-food from the International Accounts and Trade 
Division of Statistics Canada. This data set provides a detailed breakdown of agri-food exports 
originating from Alberta and valued at “Free on Board” port of exit from Canada. Canadian 
international export statistics are developed from Canada Border Services Agency and U.S. Border 
Protection administrative files. Information on Alberta’s agri-food exports is compiled by the 
Statistics and Data Development Section of Agriculture and Irrigation. 

Statistics developed from administrative records of Customs may understate or incorrectly portray 
the destination of exports or the province of origin. Inaccuracies of export data often result from the 
attribution of exports on a province of landing basis rather than by province of origin. Export 
statistics are subject to revisions, with revisions being conducted by Statistics Canada on a monthly 
basis. In this report, revisions are made only in the case when the difference in annual value of 
exports is greater than five per cent. 

Source: Statistics Canada and Agriculture and Irrigation 

Performance Measure 2.a: Percentage of eligible seeded acres for major crop categories 
insured under Production Insurance.  

Methodology: Annual crops refer to crops that need to be seeded every year including wheat 
(winter wheat, spring wheat, and durum wheat); oats; barley; fall rye; mixed grain; flaxseed; canola; 
corn for grain; dry peas; triticale; dry coloured beans; lentils; mustard seed; chick peas; sugar beets; 

https://open.alberta.ca/publications/3295832


 

Results Analysis 
 

 

48 Agriculture and Irrigation | Annual Report 2023–2024 

Classification: Public 

and corn for silage. Perennial crops refer to crops that do not need to be seeded every year 
including seeded pasture; export timothy hay; native/natural pasture; and tame hay.  

Percentage participation for each of annual crops and perennial crops insured under the Crop 
Insurance program is the result of insured acres divided by eligible seeded acres. Eligible seeded 
acres for respective annual and perennial crops are reported by Statistics Canada in Table 32-10-
0359-01 and Table 21-10-0249-01. 

The Census of Agriculture is collected every five years, so acres may change during that time. 

Source: Statistics Canada and Agriculture Financial Services Corporation 

Performance Measure 3.a: Percentage of water management infrastructure in good, fair and 
poor status.  

Methodology: Water management infrastructure status reflects the percentage of water 
management infrastructure in good, fair and poor status based on an aggregate assessment of 
physical condition, functional adequacy, utilization and consequence of failure, measured in current 
year replacement value dollars. Replacement costs do not factor in required enhancements to bring 
structures to current standards.  

Good status refers to infrastructure rated as low or medium priority, fair status has elevated 
priority, and poor status has high priority for maintenance, rehabilitation or replacement based on 
assessed physical condition, functional adequacy, utilization and consequence of failure.  

The result is measured in current year replacement value (dollars) by applying a cost adjustment 
factor to the actual cost. The total replacement value of infrastructure in good, fair, or poor status is 
divided by the total replacement value of all infrastructure and then a percentage is calculated to 
produce the results for the measure. 

Source: Agriculture and Irrigation 
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Reporting Entity and Method Consolidation  
The financial information is prepared in accordance with government’s stated accounting policies, 
which are based on Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards. 

The reporting entity is the ministry for which the Minister is accountable. The accounts of the 
ministry, which includes the department and the entities making up the ministry, are consolidated 
using the line-by-line method. 

Under this method, accounting policies of the consolidated entities are adjusted to conform to those 
of the government and the results of each line item in their financial statements (revenue, expense, 
assets, and liabilities) are included in government’s results. Revenue and expense, capital, investing 
and financing transactions and related asset and liability balances between the consolidated 
entities have been eliminated. 

A list of the individual entities making up the ministry are shown on the “Management’s 
Responsibility for Reporting” statement included in this annual report. 
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Ministry Financial Highlights  

Statement of Revenues and Expenses (unaudited)  
Year Ended March 31, 2024  
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Revenue and Expense Highlights  
Revenues  

Total revenue for the Ministry was $1.5 billion, $198.5 million higher than budget and $320.9 
million higher than 2022-23.  
 
Change from Budget 2023-24 
 

• Government transfers were $133.7 million higher than budget, largely due to higher 
funding for Agriculture Income Support ($129.5 million) due to the 2023 Canada-
Alberta Drought Livestock Assistance AgriRecovery program, higher funding for 
AgriInsurance premiums ($8 million) and also for wildlife damage compensation ($3.1 
million) due to increased commodity prices and higher than anticipated program 
participation. These increases were partially offset by lower contributions for livestock 
insurance ($0.2 million) due to lower than anticipated costs and less funding for the 
Sustainable Canadian Agricultural Partnership ($4.7 million) due to lower than 
anticipated program participation.  

• Premiums, Fees and Licenses were $64.7 million higher than budget, primarily due to 
higher than expected reinsurance recoveries ($58.6 million) from the Crop Reinsurance 
Fund of Canada for Alberta and higher premiums for AgriInsurance ($8.9 million) due to 
an increase in commodity prices and higher than expected program participation. These 
increases were partially offset by lower premiums for livestock insurance ($2.4 million). 

• Investment Income was $6.4 million lower than budget due to lower than anticipated 
income due to the liquidation of portfolio investments. 

 
Change from 2022-23 Actual  
 

• Government transfers were $159.8 million higher than the previous year, mostly due to 
higher contributions for Agriculture Income Support ($81.8 million) for the 2023 
Canada-Alberta Drought Livestock Assistance Program, higher funding for 
AgriInsurance premiums ($76.7 million) resulting from increased participation, higher 
rates and commodity prices, higher funding for wildlife damage compensation ($0.2 
million) due to an increase in indemnities paid to producers, and higher contributions 
for livestock insurance administration ($1.8 million). 

• Premiums, Fees and Licenses increased by $151.6 million compared to last year, 
primarily due to higher AgriInsurance premiums ($111.5 million) due to higher 
participation, rates and commodity prices, combined with higher revenue for 
Agriculture Income Support ($43.5 million) due to reinsurance recoveries from the Crop 
Reinsurance Fund of Canada for Alberta. These increases were partially offset by lower 
premiums for livestock insurance ($1.8 million) due to fewer policies sold due to higher 
cattle prices throughout the year. 

• Investment Income increased by $10.5 million from last year due to higher interest on 
lending ($14.6 million) resulting from an increase in the lending portfolio and higher 
interest rates, partially offset by a loss on the liquidation of portfolio investments. 
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Expenses  

Total expense for the Ministry was $2.7 billion, $1.8 billion more than budget and  
$749.9 million more than 2022-23. 
 
Change from Budget 2023-24 
 

• Primary Agriculture expenses were $30.7 million lower than budget, predominantly due 
re-profiling Irrigation Infrastructure Assistance Program grants to future years. 

• Insurance expenses were $1.6 billion higher than budget, primarily due to higher than 
anticipated indemnities for crop insurance due to the 2023 drought ($1.6 billion), 
combined with higher than expected hail insurance indemnities ($6.4 million) due to a 
lower loss to premium ratio, and higher than expected wildlife damage compensation 
indemnities ($5.3 million) due to increasing claims. These costs were partially offset by 
lower than anticipated livestock insurance indemnities ($6.8 million) due to higher 
cattle prices throughout the year. 

• Agriculture income support was $221.9 million higher than budget, due to the 2023 
Canada-Alberta Drought Livestock Assistance, AgriStability and AgriInvest programs 
related to the 2023 drought. 

• Debt servicing costs were $10.7 million higher than budget, due to increased borrowing 
and higher interest rates. 

 
Change from 2022-23 Actual  
 

• Primary Agriculture expenses were $18 million lower than the prior year, mainly due to 
lower grants for Irrigation Infrastructure Assistance ($29.7 million), partially offset by 
increased funding for grants for agricultural service boards ($2.9 million), agriculture 
research ($1.5 million) and a one-time capital grant for natural resource management 
($5 million). 

• Lending expenses were $8.9 million higher than last year, primarily due to a higher 
allowance for doubtful loans reflecting a growing loan portfolio, which followed a 
significant decrease in the allowance in the prior year. 

• Insurance expenses were $586.6 million higher than the previous year, mostly due to an 
increase in crop insurance costs ($608 million) due to increased indemnities resulting 
from the 2023 drought, higher costs for livestock insurance ($0.5 million) due to a lower 
loss to premium ratio for reinsurance and higher wildlife damage compensation ($3.1 
million) due to an increase in the severity of claims, partially offset by a decrease in hail 
insurance costs ($12.7 million) due to fewer storms with less damage to crops. 

• Agriculture income support payments were $137.2 million higher than the prior year, 
primarily due to the 2023 Canada-Alberta Drought Livestock Assistance program. 

• Water management costs were $7.6 million higher than last year, mainly due to 
additional funding for natural resource management and other water management 
initiatives. 

• Debt servicing costs were $18.4 million higher than the previous year, mostly due to 
increased borrowing to support the lending portfolio and higher interest rates. 
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Breakdown of Revenues (unaudited)  
The following information presents detailed revenues of the ministry. The objective of detailed 
revenues disclosure is to provide information that is useful in understanding and assessing the 
financial impact of government's revenue raising and for enhancing legislative control.  

2024 Actuals  
(in thousands) 
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Expenses – Directly Incurred Detailed by Object (unaudited)  
The following information presents expenses of the ministry that were directly incurred by object. 
The objective of disclosure of expenses by object is to provide information that is useful in 
evaluating the economic impact of government acquiring or consuming various types of resources. 

2024 Actuals 
(in thousands) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total expense for the Ministry was $2.7 billion, $1.8 billion more than budget and $749.9 million 
more than 2022-23. 

• Indemnities were $1.6 billion higher than budget, and $722 million more than the prior 
year, primarily due to the 2023 Canada-Alberta Drought Livestock Assurance, 
AgriStability and AgriInvest programs as a result of the 2023 drought. These costs were 
partially offset by lower livestock insurance indemnities due to higher than expected 
cattle prices, and lower hail insurance indemnities resulting from fewer storms with 
less damage to crops. 

• Grants were $32.9 million less than budget, and $12 million lower than the prior year, 
mostly due to re-profiling funding for Irrigation Infrastructure Assistance Program 
grants to future years. 

• Interest expenses were $10.7 million higher than budget and $18.4 million higher than 
2022-23 due to increased borrowing to support the lending portfolio and higher 
interest rates on borrowing. 
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Supplemental Financial Information  

Portfolio Investments (unaudited)  
 

 [Charts and narratives] 

 

• [Narrative…] 
• [Narrative…] 
•  
•  
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Tangible Capital Assets (unaudited) 
 

 [Charts and narratives] 

 

• [Narrative…] 
• [Narrative…] 
•  
•  
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Tangible Capital Assets (unaudited) 
 
Net Book Value as of March 31, 2024 
(In Thousands) 
 
 [Charts and narratives] 

 

[Narrative…] 
[Narrative…] 
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Financial Statements of Other Reporting Entities  
 

Index of Audited Financial Statements 

Agriculture Financial Services Corporation................................................................................ 63 
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Agriculture Financial Services Corporation 
Financial Statements 
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Independent Auditor’s Report  

 

To the Board of Directors of the Agriculture Financial Services Corporation 

Report on the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

I have audited the financial statements of Agriculture Financial Services Corporation (the 
Corporation), which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2024, and the 
statements of operations, change in (net debt) net financial assets, and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Corporation as at March 31, 2024, and the results of its operations, its 
change from net financial assets to net debt, and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. My 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my report. I am independent of the Corporation in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements 
in Canada, and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my opinion. 

Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements and my 
auditor’s report thereon. The Annual Report is expected to be made available to me after the date of 
this auditor’s report. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work I will perform on this other information, I conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, I am required to communicate the matter to those charged 
with governance. 
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Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial 
statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Corporation’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless an intention exists to liquidate or to cease 
operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Corporation’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 
report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, I exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Corporation to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit.  
 
 
 
 
[Original signed by W. Doug Wylie FCPA, FCMA, ICD.D]  
Auditor General 
 
May 28, 2024  
Edmonton, Alberta 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 Financial Information 
 

 

Agriculture and Irrigation | Annual Report 2023–2024 67 

Classification: Public 

Statement of Financial Position [H4] 

Year ended March 31, 2024  
(in thousands)  
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Statement of Operations  

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands)   
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Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets (Net Debt) 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 

 [Insert financial data here…] 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands)  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands)  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands)  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands)  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands)  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands)  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands)  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands)  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands)  
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Schedule of Operations  

Year ended March 31, 2024  
(in thousands)           Schedule 1 
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Year ended March 31, 2024  
(in thousands)          Schedule 1 (con’t) 
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Schedule of Salaries and Benefits 

Year ended March 31, 2024  
(in thousands)           Schedule 2 
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Other Financial Information  
 

Table of Contents 

Title 1 [H3].................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 
Title 2 [H3]................................................................................................................................................ 97 

 

[Update TOC by right clicking anywhere on TOC and select -> Update Field  
-> Update entire table. Please DO NOT mannually edit or delete TOC.] 

 

  



 
Financial Information 
 

 

96 Agriculture and Irrigation | Annual Report 2023–2024 

Classification: Public 

Trust Funds Under Administration (unaudited) 
The ministry administers trust funds that are regulated and other funds consisting of public money 
over which the legislature has no power of appropriation. As the ministry has no equity in the funds 
and administers them for the purpose of various trusts, they are not included in the ministry’s 
financial statements. 

At March 31, 2024 trust funds under administration were as follows: 
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Statement of Remissions, Compromises and Write-Offs (unaudited) 
Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation 
Year Ended March 31, 2024 

 
The following statement has been prepared pursuant to Section 23 of the Financial Administration 
Act. The statement includes all remissions, compromises and write-offs made or approved during 
the fiscal year. 
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Statement of Guarantees (unaudited) 
The majority of loan guarantees relate to loans made by other financial institutions with repayment 
guaranteed by the ministry. Prior to issuing a loan, security is taken. The security taken depends on 
the nature of the loan.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Feeder Associations Guarantee Act – (authorized guarantee limit set by Order in Council is $150 
million). 

Agriculture Financial Services Act – (authorized guarantee limit set by the Agriculture Financial 
Services Regulation is $30 million). Loans and guarantees are provided to primary agriculture 
producers in Alberta. Loans and guarantees are also provided to commercial Alberta businesses. 
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Statement of Credit or Recovery (unaudited) 
Department of Agriculture and Irrigation 
Year Ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 
 
The following has been prepared pursuant to Section 24(3) of the Financial Administration Act. 
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Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited) 
Department of Agriculture and Irrigation 
Year Ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 
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Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited) (continued) 
Department of Agriculture and Irrigation 
Year Ended March 31, 2024 
(in thousands) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adjusted Over 
Voted Supplementary Voted Voted Expended

Estimate(1) Estimate(2) Adjustments(3) Estimate Actuals(4) (Unexpended)
CAPITAL PAYMENTS TO RELATED PARTIES

4 Primary Agriculture
4.1 Animal Health and Assurance 1,200              -                       -                     1,200                1,200               -                      

Total 679,936          109,249            (2,286)            786,899             733,911            (52,988)           
Credit or Recovery Shortfall -                     -                       -                      -                      

679,936$        109,249$          (2,286)$          786,899$           733,911$          (52,988)$          
(Lapse)/Encumbrance (52,988)$          

CAPITAL INVESTMENT VOTE BY PROGRAM
Department Capital Acquisitions

1 Ministry Support Services
1.4 Corporate Services 990$               -$                     -$                   990$                 105$                (885)$              

3 Trade, Investment and Food Inspection
3.2 Food Inspection and Surveillance 301                -                       35                  336                   545                  209                 
3.3 Food and Bio-Processing 727                293                   1,337             2,357                927                  (1,430)             

1,028              293                   1,372             2,693                1,472               (1,221)             
4 Primary Agriculture

4.1 Animal Health and Assurance -                     -                       24                  24                     24                    -                      
4.2 Crop Health and Assurance -                     -                       -                     -                       84                    84                   
4.6 Natural Resource Management 159                -                       -                     159                   12                    (147)                

159                -                       24                  183                   120                  (63)                  

6 Water Management 5,000              -                       5,000             10,000              234                  (9,766)             

Total 7,177$            293$                 6,396$            13,866$             1,931$             (11,935)$          
(Lapse)/Encumbrance (11,935)$          

CONTINGENCY VOTE BY PROGRAM
OPERATING EXPENSE

6 Water Management -                     -                       2,500             2,500                2,500               -                      

CAPITAL GRANTS
4 Primary Agriculture

4.6 Natural Resource Management -                     -                       5,000             5,000                5,000               -                      

Contingency Total -$                   -$                     7,500$            7,500$              7,500$             -$                    
(Lapse)/Encumbrance -$                    

(1) As per "Expense Vote by Program", "Capital Investment Vote by Program" and "Contingency Vote by Program" page 40/41 of the 2023-24 Government Estimates.

(2) Per the Supplementary Supply Estimates approved on March 28, 2024.  (Bill 15 - Appropriation (Supplementary Supply) Act, 2024)

(3) Adjustments include encumbrances, capital carry over amounts, transfers between votes and credit or recovery increases approved by Treasury Board and credit or
recovery shortfalls. An encumbrance is incurred when, on a vote-by-vote basis, the total of actual disbursements in the prior year exceed the total adjusted estimate. 
All calculated encumbrances from the prior year are reflected as an adjustment to reduce the corresponding voted estimate in the current year.

Adjustments also include supply vote transfers for "Contingency" as approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council under the direction of the Minister of Finance. 
The Contingency supply vote consists of a provisional funding authority transferable to any ministry. Upon approval by the Lieutenant Governor in Council, the 
President of Treasury Board and Minister of Finance may either spend or transfer all or a portion of this supply vote to another minister for public emergencies, 
disasters or unanticipated costs. As per Order in Council (OC) 057/2024, contingency funding of $7,500 was approved for the southern Alberta bilateral agreement.

(4) Actuals exclude non-voted amounts such as amortization, valuation adjustments, and other provisions as these amounts do not require any expenditure or payment 
of public money. Year-end expense accruals and payables which will immediately require a cash outlay (payment of public money) to settle or otherwise extinguish 
the liabilities are included in Actuals.
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Annual Report Extracts and Other Statutory Reports  

Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act 
 

Section 32 of the Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act reads: 

32(1) Every chief officer must prepare a report annually on all disclosures that have been made to 
the designated officer of the department, public entity or office of the Legislature for which 
the chief officer is responsible.  

(2) The report under subsection (1) must include the following information: 

(a) the number of disclosures received by the designated officer, the number of disclosures 
acted on and the number of disclosures not acted on by the designated officer; 

(b) the number of investigations commenced by the designated officer as a result of 
disclosures; 

(c) in the case of an investigation that results in a finding of wrongdoing, a description of 
the wrongdoing and any recommendations made or corrective measures taken in 
relation to the wrongdoing or the reasons why no corrective measure was taken.  

(3) The report under subsection (1) must be included in the annual report of the department, 
public entity or office of the Legislature if the annual report is made publicly available. 

There were no disclosures of wrongdoing filed with my office for your department between April 1, 
2023 and March 31, 2024.   
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